

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com

SciVerse ScienceDirect



SPECIAL ARTICLE

Second European evidence-based consensus on the diagnosis and management of ulcerative colitis Part 3: Special situations

Gert Van Assche^{*,1,2}, Axel Dignass^{**,2}, Bernd Bokemeyer¹, Silvio Danese¹, Paolo Gionchetti¹, Gabriele Moser¹, Laurent Beaugerie¹, Fernando Gomollón¹, Winfried Häuser¹, Klaus Herrlinger¹, Bas Oldenburg¹, Julian Panes¹, Francisco Portela¹, Gerhard Rogler¹, Jürgen Stein¹, Herbert Tilg¹, Simon Travis¹, James O. Lindsay¹

Received 30 August 2012; accepted 3 September 2012



Contents

8.	Pouchitis	3
	8.1. General	3
	8.1.1. Symptoms	3

* Correspondence to: G. Van Assche, Division of Gastroenterology, Department of Medicine, Mt. Sinai Hospital and University Health Network, University of Toronto and University of Leuven, 600 University Avenue, Toronto, ON, Canada M5G 1X5.

** Correspondence to: A. Dignass, Department of Medicine 1, Agaplesion Markus Hospital, Wilhelm-Epstein-Str. 4, D-60431 Frankfurt/Main, Germany.

¹ On behalf of ECCO.

1873-9946/\$ - see front matter © 2012 European Crohn's and Colitis Organisation. Published by Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.crohns.2012.09.005

E-mail addresses: gvanassche@mtsinai.on.ca (G. Van Assche), axel.dignass@fdk.info (A. Dignass).

 $^{^{\}rm 2}$ G.V.A. and A.D. acted as convenors of the consensus and contributed equally to this paper.

		8.1.2. Endoscopy ("pouchoscopy")
		8.1.3. Histopathology of pouchitis
		8.1.4. Differential diagnosis
		8.1.5. Risk factors for pouchitis and pouch dysfunction
	8.2.	Pattern of pouchitis
		8.2.1. Acute and chronic pouchitis
		8.2.2. Scoring of pouchitis
		8.2.3. Recurrent pouchitis and complications
	8.3.	Medical treatment
		8.3.1. Acute pouchitis: antibiotics
		8.3.2. Chronic pouchitis: combination antibiotic therapy or budesonide
		8.3.3. Acute and chronic refractory pouchitis: other agents
		8.3.4. Maintenance of remission: probiotics
		8.3.5. Prevention of pouchitis: probiotics
	8.4.	Cuffitis
9.	Surve	illance for colorectal cancer in UC
		Risk of colorectal cancer in UC
		Surveillance issues
		9.2.1. Screening and surveillance
		9.2.2. Effectiveness
		9.2.3. Initial screening colonoscopy and surveillance schedules
	9.3.	Colonoscopic procedures
		Chemoprevention
		9.4.1. 5-ASA and CRC
		9.4.2. Patient selection for chemoprevention with 5-ASA 10
		9.4.3. Immunosuppressants
		9.4.4. Other drugs
	9.5.	Management of dysplasia
	,	9.5.1. Microscopic patterns of dysplasia
		9.5.2. Macroscopic patterns of dysplasia
		9.5.3. Management of raised dysplasia
		9.5.4. Management of flat dysplasia
10.	Psych	nosomatics
		Introduction
		Influence of psychological factors on disease
	10.2.	10.2.1. Etiology
		10.2.2. Course of disease
	10.3	Psychological disturbances in ulcerative colitis
		Approach to psychological disorders
	10.4.	10.4.1. Communication with patients
		10.4.2. Psychological support
		10.4.3. Therapeutic intervention
		10.4.4. Therapeutic choice
11.	Evtra	intestinal manifestations of ulcerative colitis
		Introduction
		Arthropathy
	11.2.	11.2.1. Peripheral arthropathy
		11.2.2. Axial arthropathy
	11 2	11.2.3. Treatment of arthropathy related to ulcerative colitis 16 Metabolic bone disease 17
		Cutaneous manifestations
	11.4.	
		11.4.1. Erythema nodosum (EN)
		11.4.2. Pyoderma gangrenosum (PG) 18 11.4.3. Sweet's syndrome 18
	44 -	11.4.4. Anti-TNF-induced skin inflammation
		Ocular manifestations
		Hepatobiliary disease 19 Venuest thread to any table 20
		Venous thromboembolism
		Cardiopulmonary disease
	11.9.	Anaemia
		11.9.1. Introduction
		11.9.2. Diagnosis of iron deficiency 21

11.9.3. Treatment of anaemia and iron deficiency	
Acknowledgements	
References	

8. Pouchitis

8.1. General

Proctocolectomy with ileal pouch-anal anastomosis (IPAA) is the procedure of choice for most patients with ulcerative colitis (UC) requiring colectomy.¹ Pouchitis is a non-specific inflammation of the ileal reservoir and the most common complication of IPAA in patients with UC.^{2–7} Its frequency is related to the duration of follow up, occurring in up to 50% of patients 10 years after IPAA in large series from major referral centres.^{1–9} The cumulative incidence of pouchitis in patients with an IPAA for familial adenomatous polyposis is much lower, ranging from 0 to 10%.^{10–12} Reasons for the higher frequency of pouchitis in UC remain unknown. Whether pouchitis more commonly develops within the first years after IPAA or whether the risk continues to increase with longer follow up remains undefined.

Statement 8A

The diagnosis of pouchitis requires the presence of symptoms, together with characteristic endoscopic and histological abnormalities [EL3a, RG B]. Extensive UC, extraintestinal manifestations (i.e. PSC), being a non-smoker, p-ANCA positive serology and NSAID use are possible risk factors for pouchitis [EL3b, RG D]

8.1.1. Symptoms

After proctocolectomy with IPAA, median stool frequency is 4 to 8 bowel movements, 1-4, 13, 14 with about 700 mL of semiformed/liquid stool per day, ^{2,13,14} compared to a volume of 200 mL/day in healthy people. Symptoms related to pouchitis include increased stool frequency and liquidity, abdominal cramping, urgency, tenesmus and pelvic discomfort.^{2,15} Rectal bleeding, fever, or extraintestinal manifestations may occur. Rectal bleeding is more often related to inflammation of the rectal cuff ("cuffitis," Section 1.4),¹⁶ than to pouchitis. Faecal incontinence may occur in the absence of pouchitis after IPAA, but is more common in patients with pouchitis. Symptoms of pouch dysfunction in patients with IPAA may be caused by conditions other than pouchitis, including Crohn's disease of the pouch, 17-19 cuffitis¹⁶ and an irritable pouch²⁰ among other conditions. This is why the diagnosis depends on endoscopic and histological findings in conjunction with symptoms.

8.1.2. Endoscopy ("pouchoscopy")

Pouchoscopy and pouch mucosal biopsy should be performed in patients with symptoms compatible with pouchitis, in order to confirm the diagnosis.^{15,21} Patients with an ileoanal pouch occasionally have a stricture at the

pouch-anal anastomosis, so a gastroscope rather than a colonoscope is preferred for pouchoscopy. Progression into the afferent ileal limb should always be attempted. Endoscopic findings compatible with pouchitis include diffuse erythema, which may be patchy, unlike that observed in UC. Characteristic endoscopic findings also include oedema, granularity, friability, spontaneous or contact bleeding, loss of vascular pattern, mucous exudates, haemorrhage, erosions and ulceration.¹⁷ Erosions and/or ulcers along the staple line do not necessarily indicate pouchitis.^{18,22,23} Biopsies should be taken from the pouch mucosa and from the afferent limb above the pouch, but not along the staple line.

8.1.3. Histopathology of pouchitis

Histological findings of pouchitis are also non-specific, including acute inflammation with polymorphonuclear leukocyte infiltration, crypt abscesses and ulceration, in association with a chronic inflammatory infiltrate. 22,23 There may be discrepancy between endoscopic and histologic findings in pouchitis, possibly related to sampling error.^{24,25} Morphological changes of the epithelium lining the ileal pouch normally develop in the 12-18 months after ileostomy closure, characterised by flattening and a reduced number, or complete disappearance of the villi, leading to villous atrophy ("colonic metaplasia").²³⁻²⁵ Although the aetiology of pouchitis remains unknown, it can be inferred from the predeliction for patients with UC and the response to antibiotic therapy that the bacterial flora and/or other triggers of inflammation in UC are involved.^{26,27} Pouchitis tends to occur only after colonic metaplasia has developed in the pouch, although a causal association is unproven.

Statement 8B

The most frequent symptoms of pouchitis are increased number of liquid stools, urgency, abdominal cramping and pelvic discomfort. Fever and bleeding are rare [EL1c, RG B]. Routine pouchoscopy after clinical remission is not required [EL5, RG D]

8.1.4. Differential diagnosis

The clinical history and biopsies help discriminate between pouchitis, ischaemia, Crohn's disease (CD) and other rare forms of pouch dysfunction such as collagenous pouchitis, *Clostridium difficile* or cytomegalovirus pouchitis.^{28–30} Secondary pouchitis, caused by pelvic sepsis, usually causes focal inflammation and should be considered. Biopsies taken from the ileum above the pouch may reveal pre-pouch ileitis as a cause of pouch dysfunction, although this usually causes visible ulceration that may be confused with Crohn's disease.³¹ The possibility of non-specific ileitis caused by NSAIDs should be considered.³²

8.1.5. Risk factors for pouchitis and pouch dysfunction

The aetiology of pouchitis remains unclear. Risk factors, genetic associations, and serological markers of pouchitis suggest that a close interaction between the host immune response and the pouch microbiota plays a relevant role in the aetiology of this idiopathic inflammatory condition.³³ Reported risk factors for pouchitis include extensive UC,^{1,34} backwash ileitis, 34 extraintestinal manifestations (especially primary sclerosing cholangitis),^{5,19,35} being a non-smoker³⁶ and regular use of NSAIDs. 32,37 Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist gene polymorphisms³⁸ and the presence of perinuclear neutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies³⁹ are also associated with pouchitis. Not surprisingly studies are discordant with regard to the role of each risk factor. Some of the best data on risk factors come from the Cleveland Clinic.⁴⁰ Two hundred and forty consecutive patients were classified as having healthy pouches (n=49), pouchitis (n=61), Crohn's disease (n=39), cuffitis (n=41), or irritable pouch syndrome (n=50). The risk of developing pouchitis was increased when the indication for IPAA was dysplasia (OR 3.89; 95% CI 1.69-8.98), when the patient had never smoked (OR 5.09; 95% CI 1.01-25.69), used NSAIDs (OR 3.24; 95% CI 1.71–6.13), or (perhaps surprisingly) had never used anxiolytics (OR 5.19; 95% CI 1.45–18.59). The risk of a diagnosis of Crohn's disease in the pouch was greatly increased by being a current smoker (OR 4.77; 95% CI, 1.39-16.25), and modestly increased with having a pouch of long duration (OR 1.20; 95% CI 1.12-1.30). Cuffitis was associated with symptoms of arthralgia (OR 4.13; 95% CI 1.91-8.94) and a younger age (OR 1.16; 95% CI 1.01-1.33). Irritable pouch syndrome is probably under-recognised, although is a common cause of pouch dysfunction when other causes (including a small volume pouch, incomplete evacuation and pouch volvulus) have been excluded and investigations are normal. The principal risk factor is the use of antidepressants (OR 4.17; 95% CI 1.95-8.92) or anxiolytics (OR 3.21; 95% CI 1.34-7.47), which suggests that these people may have had irritable bowel syndrome contributing to symptoms of colitis before pouch surgery.⁴⁰ Similar to irritable bowel syndrome, a visceral hypersensitivity has been described in these patients.⁴¹ The same group has recently shown that various perioperative factors may predict pouchitis. On multivariate analysis, pulmonary comorbidity, disease proximal to the splenic flexure, extraintestinal manifestations, and S-pouch reconstruction were associated with pouchitis.⁴² These risk factors should not preclude proctocolectomy if surgery is appropriate, but should be included pre-operative discussions with the patient and family. If there is a disparity between preoperative and endoscopic appearance, or if the patient is on antidepressants, then the risk of pouch dysfunction after IPAA needs particularly careful consideration. Similarly, if a patient has primary sclerosing cholangitis, then it is appropriate to discuss the higher risk of pouchitis. These discussions are part of appropriate management of expectations and known predictive factors for pouchitis or irritable pouch should not be considered as formal contraindications for pouch surgery.

8.2. Pattern of pouchitis

8.2.1. Acute and chronic pouchitis

On the basis of symptoms and endoscopy, pouchitis can be divided into remission (normal pouch frequency) or active pouchitis (increased frequency with endoscopic appearances and histology consistent with pouchitis).^{15,43} Active pouchitis may then be divided into acute or chronic, depending on the symptom duration. The threshold for chronicity is a symptom duration of >4 weeks. Up to 10% of patients develop chronic pouchitis requiring long-term treatment, and a small subgroup has pouchitis refractory to medical treatment.³ From various perspectives pouchitis may also be classified into: 1) idiopathic versus secondary, 2) in remission versus active, 3) infrequent (<3 episodes per year) versus relapsing (>3 episodes per year). Pouchitis may also be classified based on the response to antibiotic therapy: 1) antibiotic-responsive, 2) antibiotic-dependent (need for continuous antibiotic treatment to maintain remission), 3) antibiotic-refractory.⁴⁴

8.2.2. Scoring of pouchitis

The Pouchitis Disease Activity Index (PDAI) has been developed to standardise diagnostic criteria and assess the severity of pouchitis.^{15,43,45} The PDAI is a composite score that evaluates symptoms, endoscopy and histology. Each component of the score has a maximum of 6 points. Patients with a total PDAI score \geq 7 are classified as having pouchitis although a patient should exhibit both clinical symptoms and endoscopic or histological evidence of pouchitis. The problem is that about a quarter of patients with a high symptom score suggestive of pouchitis may not fulfil criteria for the diagnosis of pouchitis, as assessed by the PDAI, since endoscopic or histological criteria may be absent. Consequently a relatively large number of patients may be unnecessarily treated for pouchitis when symptoms are due to other conditions. Other scoring systems have been devised, including the Moskowitz index²² and an index from Heidelberg. Comparisons with the PDAI^{46,47} show that they are not interchangeable, but this affects clinical trials rather than clinical practice.

8.2.3. Recurrent pouchitis and complications

Pouchitis recurs in more than 50% patients.^{3,15,41} Patients with recurrent pouchitis can broadly be grouped into three categories: infrequent episodes (<1/year), a relapsing course (1–3 episodes/year) or a continuous course. Pouchitis may further be termed treatment responsive or refractory, based on response to antibiotic mono-therapy^{7,9} (see Section 1.3.2). Although these distinctions are largely arbitrary, they help both patients and their physicians when considering management options to alter the pattern of pouchitis. Complications of pouchitis include abscesses, fistulae, stenosis of the pouch-anal anastomosis and adenocarcinoma of the pouch.^{7,28,43} The latter complication is exceptional and almost only occurs when there is pre-exiting dysplasia or carcinoma in the original colectomy specimen.

8.3. Medical treatment

8.3.1. Acute pouchitis: antibiotics

Statement 8C

The majority of patients respond to metronidazole or ciprofloxacin, although the optimum modality of

treatment is not clearly defined [EL1b, RG B]. Side effects are less frequent using ciprofloxacin [EL1c, RG B]. Antidiarrhoeal drugs may reduce the number of daily liquid stools in patients, independent of pouchitis [EL5, RG D]

Treatment of pouchitis is largely empirical and only small placebo-controlled trials have been conducted. Antibiotics are the mainstay of treatment, and metronidazole and ciprofloxacin are the most common initial approaches, often resulting in a rapid response. The odds ratio of inducing response using oral metronidazole compared with placebo in active chronic pouchitis is 26.67 (95% CI 2.31-308.01, NNT=2).⁴⁸ However, randomised trials of both metronidazole and ciprofloxacin are small.^{3,49} The two have been compared in another small randomised trial⁵⁰ Seven patients received ciprofloxacin 1 g/day and nine patients metronidazole 20 mg/kg/day for a period of 2 weeks. Ciprofloxacin lowered the PDAI score from 10.1 ± 2.3 to 3.3 ± 1.7 (p= 0.0001), whereas metronidazole reduced the PDAI score from 9.7 ± 2.3 to 5.8 ± 1.7 (p=0.0002). There was a significantly greater benefit with ciprofloxacin compared to metronidazole in terms of the total PDAI (p=0.002), symptom score (p=0.03) and endoscopic score (p=0.03), as well as fewer adverse events (33% of metronidazole-treated patients reported side-effects, but none on ciprofloxacin). The treatment and prevention of pouchitis has been systematically reviewed in 2010 by a Cochrane analysis. For the treatment of acute pouchitis (4 RCTS, 5 agents) ciprofloxacin was more effective at inducing remission than metronidazole. Neither rifaximin nor Lactobacillus plantarum GG were more effective than placebo, while budesonide enemas and metronidazole were equally effective for inducing remission. In a non-randomised, non-controlled, open-label trial, a highly concentrated probiotic preparation (VSL#3) was shown to be effective in the treatment of mildly active pouchitis.⁵¹

8.3.2. Chronic pouchitis: combination antibiotic therapy or budesonide

Statement 8D

In chronic pouchitis a combination of two antibiotics is effective [EL1b, RG B]. Oral budesonide is an alternative [EL2b, RG B]. Infliximab is effective for the treatment of chronic refractory pouchitis [EL4, RG C]

For patients who have persistent symptoms, alternative diagnoses should be considered, including undiagnosed Crohn's disease, pouch-anal or ileal-pouch stricture, infection with CMV or *Cl difficile*, collagenous pouchitis, cuffitis, anatomical disorders, or irritable pouch syndrome. Approximately 10–15% of patients with acute pouchitis develop chronic pouchitis, which may be "treatment responsive" or "treatment refractory" to single antibiotic therapy.⁴⁵

Patients with chronic, refractory pouchitis do not respond to conventional therapy and often have ongoing symptoms. This is a common cause of pouch failure. Combination antibiotic therapy or oral budesonide may be effective. Sixteen consecutive patients with chronic, refractory pouchitis (disease >4 weeks and failure to respond to >4 weeks of single-antibiotic therapy) were treated with ciprofloxacin 1 g/day and tinidazole 15 mg/kg/day for 4 weeks.⁵² A historic cohort of ten consecutive patients with chronic refractory pouchitis treated with high dose oral and topical mesalazine daily was used as a comparator. These treatment-refractory patients had a significant reduction in the total PDAI score and a significant improvement in guality-of-life score (p < 0.002) when taking ciprofloxacin and tinidazole, compared to baseline. The rate of clinical remission in the antibiotic group was 87.5% and for the mesalazine group was 50%.

In another study, 18 patients refractory to metronidazole, ciprofloxacin or amoxicillin/clavulanic acid for 4 weeks were treated orally with rifaximin 2 g/day (a nonabsorbable, broad spectrum antibiotic) and ciprofloxacin 1 g/day for 15 days. Sixteen out of 18 patients (88.8%) either improved (n=10) or went into remission (n=6).⁵³ Median PDAI scores before and after therapy were 11 (range 9-17) and 4 (range 0-16), respectively (p < 0.002). A British group observed similar benefit in just 8 patients.⁵⁴ In another combination study, 44 patients with refractory pouchitis received metronidazole 800 mg-1 g/day and ciprofloxacin 1 g/day for 28 days.⁵⁵ Thirty-six patients (82%) went into remission and median PDAI scores before and after therapy were 12 and 3 respectively (p < 0.0001). The alternative is oral budesonide CIR 9 mg daily for 8 weeks, which achieved remission in 15/20 (75%) patients not responding after 1 month of ciprofloxacin or metronidazole.⁵⁶ Oral budesonide also appears to have no impact on liver function tests in pouchitis patients with PSC, while improving significantly the pouch and afferent limb inflammation.⁵⁷ The cumulative data (derived mainly from underpowered trials) suggest that, if ciprofloxacin does not work, it should be tried in combination with an imidazole antibiotic or rifaximin, with an alternative being oral budesonide.

8.3.3. Acute and chronic refractory pouchitis: other agents

A variety of approaches has been assessed in open label and small controlled trials. Budesonide enemas were as effective as metronidazole for acute pouchitis in a randomised controlled trial.⁵⁸ Ciclosporin enemas were successful for chronic pouchitis in a pilot study⁵⁹ and oral azathioprine may help if patients relapse become budesonidedependent. Uncontrolled studies of short-chain fatty acid enemas and suppositories.^{60–62} Of more interest, infliximab has been tried in patients with chronic, refractory pouchitis.⁶³ A series of 28 patients with an IPAA who had developed refractory pouchitis were treated with infliximab. Patients had either pouchitis/pre-pouch ileitis (n=25) and/or pouch fistula (n=7) (patients with evidence of known Crohn's disease were excluded). 82% of patients received concomitant immunomodulator therapy. After 10 weeks of therapy 88% of treated patients showed a clinical response (14 partial, 8 complete) and 6/7 patients with a fistula improved (3 partial, 3 complete). PDAI decreased from 9.0 to 4.5 points. In addition, clinical responses after a median follow-up of 20 months were observed in 56% patients. Five patients needed permanent ileostomy.⁶³ The effect of infliximab in ten patients with chronic refractory pouchitis complicated by ileitis has also been described⁶⁴: 9/10 patients achieved clinical remission and 8/10 demonstrated complete recovery of endoscopic lesions which was maintained for at least 6 months. More recently, in a multicentre Spanish retrospective study, 33 patients with chronic refractory pouchitis were treated with infliximab. 21%, 33% and 27% achieved complete response at week 8, 26 and 52.65 Although infliximab might be an effective long-term therapy for pouchitis, clinical data are still few and prospective, multicentre, randomised controlled trials are needed. A possible alternative for patients with chronic refractory pouchitis previously treated with infliximab may be adalimumab; 50% of patients avoided a permanent ileostomy after 1 year of treatment with adalimumab.66

Finally, benefit has been reported from alicaforsen enemas (an inhibitor of intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM)-1) in an open-label trial. Twelve patients with chronic refractory pouchitis were treated with 240 mg enemas and 7/12 (58%) were in remission after 6 weeks.⁶⁷

8.3.4. Maintenance of remission: probiotics

Statement 8E

Probiotic therapy with VSL#3 (18×10^{11} of 8 bacterial strains for 9 or 12 months) has shown efficacy for maintaining antibiotic-induced remission [EL1b, RG B]. VSL#3 (9×10^{11} bacteria) has also shown efficacy for preventing pouchitis [EL2b, RG C]

Once remission has been obtained in chronic pouchitis, treatment with the concentrated probiotic mixture VSL#3 helps maintain remission. Two double-blind, placebocontrolled studies have shown the efficacy of VSL#3 (450 billion bacteria of 8 different strains/g) to maintain remission in patients with chronic pouchitis. In the first study, 40 patients who achieved clinical and endoscopic remission after 1 month of combined antibiotic treatment (rifaximin 2 g/day+ciprofloxacin 1 g/day), were randomised to receive either VSL#3, 6 g/day (18×10¹¹ bacteria/day), or placebo for 9 months.⁶⁸ All 20 patients who received placebo relapsed, while 17/20 patients (85%) treated with VSL#3 remained in clinical and endoscopic remission at the end of the study. Interestingly, all 17 patients relapsed within 4 months of stopping VSL#3. In the second study, 36 patients with chronic, refractory pouchitis who achieved remission (PDAI=0) after 1 month of combined antibiotic treatment (metronidazole+ ciprofloxacin) received 6 g/once a day of VSL#3 or placebo for 1 year. Remission rates at 1 year were 85% in the VSL#3 group and 6% in the placebo group (p < 0.001).⁶⁹ In the Cochrane systematic review VSL#3 was more effective than placebo in maintaining remission of chronic pouchitis in patients who achieved remission with antibiotics.⁵¹

8.3.5. Prevention of pouchitis: probiotics

The same probiotic preparation (VSL#3) has been shown to prevent pouchitis within the first year after surgery in a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled study, Forty consecutive patients undergoing IPAA for UC were randomised within a week of ileostomy closure to VSL#3 $3 g (9 \times 10^{11})$ per day or placebo for 12 months. Patients were assessed clinically, endoscopically and histologically at 1, 3, 6, 9 and 12 months. Patients treated with VSL#3 had a significantly lower incidence of acute pouchitis (10%) compared with those treated with placebo (40%) (p < 0.05), and experienced a significant improvement of quality of life.⁷⁰ A Cochrane systematic review reports that VSL#3 was more effective than placebo for the prevention of pouchitis.⁵¹ The mechanism of action of probiotic therapy remains elusive.⁷¹ Patients who develop pouchitis have low bacterial and high fungal diversity in the mucosa-associated pouch microbiota. Bacterial diversity was increased and fungal diversity was reduced in patients in whom remission was maintained using VSL#3 (p=0.001). VSL#3 increased the total number of bacterial cells assessed by real time PCR (p =0.002) and modified the spectrum of bacteria towards anaerobic species. Taxa-specific clone libraries showed that the spectrum of *Lactobacillus* sp. and *Bifidobacter* sp. was altered by probiotic therapy. The diversity of the fungal flora was repressed. Restoration of the integrity of a "protective" intestinal mucosa related microbiota could therefore be one mechanism by which probiotic bacteria work.

8.4. Cuffitis

Statement 8F

Rectal cuff inflammation (cuffitis) may induce symptoms similar to pouchitis or irritable pouch syndrome, although bleeding is more frequent [EL2a, RG B]. Topical 5-ASA has shown efficacy [EL4, RGD]

Cuffitis can cause pouch dysfunction with symptoms that mimic pouchitis or irritable pouch syndrome (IPS) especially after double-stapled IPAA (see Section 7). Unlike IPS (which may coexist) bleeding is a characteristic feature of cuffitis. Endoscopy is diagnostic, but care has to be taken to examine the cuff of columnar epithelium between the dentate line and pouch-anal anastomosis (Section 7.2.3).⁷² In an open-label trial, 14 consecutive patients with cuffitis treated with mesalazine suppositories 500 mg twice daily experienced a reduction in the total Cuffitis Activity Index (derived from the PDAI) from 11.9+3.17 to 6.21+3.19 (p < 0.001).¹⁶ In addition the symptom subscore reduced from 3.24±1.28 to 1.79±1.31, endoscopy subscore from 3.14 ± 1.29 to 1.00 ± 1.52 and histology subscore from $4.93 \pm$ 1.77 to 3.57±1.39. 92% of patients with bloody bowel movements and 70% with arthralgia (a characteristic clinical feature of cuffitis (Section 1.1.4)) improved on therapy. No systemic or topical adverse effects were reported.

9. Surveillance for colorectal cancer in UC

9.1. Risk of colorectal cancer in UC

Statement 9A

Patients with longstanding ulcerative colitis have an increased risk of colorectal cancer compared to the general population [EL 1b, RG B]

Although it is generally accepted that longstanding ulcerative colitis is associated with an increased risk of colorectal carcinoma (CRC), the reported risk estimates vary widely. In 2001, Eaden published a frequently cited meta-analysis of 116 studies dating from 1935 to 1999.73 Based on 19 of these 116 studies, cumulative risks up to 18% at 30 years of disease duration were found. Older studies, which often originate from referral centres, even report cumulative risks up to 43%,⁷⁴ while risks in newer, population-based studies seem to be hardly increased as compared to the general population. 75-77 These differences have been attributed to differences in study design, study population and patient selection. The risks of CRC seem to decline over time as well, as highlighted in a study from St. Marks.⁷⁸ This might reflect an increased implementation of surveillance strategies, introduction of drugs that control inflammation more effectively, or a changing approach to maintenance therapy or colectomy. Hence, it seems that patients with longstanding ulcerative colitis carry an increased risk of developing CRC, but this risk is probably not as high as previously perceived.

Statement 9B

The risk of colorectal cancer in ulcerative colitis is associated with disease duration and extent [EL 1b, RG B]

In the Eaden meta-analysis, cumulative CRC risks of 2% at 10 years, 8% at 20 years and 18% at 30 years disease duration were reported. Although it has been stated that CRC is rarely encountered when disease duration is less than 8 years, a significant number of tumours might develop within this time window, 76,79 especially in patients who are older at colitis onset. Whether these early CRC cases are truly colitis-associated or sporadic carcinomas cannot be determined from these studies. The role of disease extent with regard to the CRC risk is undisputed. Patients with pancolitis or colitis extending proximal to the splenic flecture carry the highest risks, and patients with a left sided colitis having an intermediate risk profile. CRC risk is not increased in patients with UC limited to the rectum.⁷³ Of note, histological extent, even without endoscopically visible abnormalities, may be an important determinant of the cancer risk as well.80

Statement 9C

Concomitant Primary Sclerosing Cholangitis (PSC), post-inflammatory polyps, a family history of CRC and more severe or persistent inflammatory activity confer an additional risk for CRC in ulcerative colitis patients [EL 1b, RG B]

The wide variation of risk estimates reported in literature may be attributed to differences in additional risk factors in the patient cohorts studied. The most consistent risk factors reported are primary sclerosing cholangitis (PSC) with a CRC risk up to 31%81-83 and histological or clinical disease activity.⁸⁴⁻⁸⁶ Post-inflammatory polyps may be markers of previous inflammatory severity and have also been found to be strong risk factors.^{75,84,87} However it is possible that this increased risk relates to missed dysplastic lesions mistakenly diagnosed as post-inflammatory polyps. Early onset of disease before the age of 20-25 years may also contribute to an increased risk, although it cannot be distinguished from the published data whether this is a truly independent risk factor or solely explained by disease duration.^{76,77,88} A family history of CRC is associated with an increased risk, although not consistently so across the studies.^{82,89}

9.2. Surveillance issues

9.2.1. Screening and surveillance

Since dysplastic change in colonic mucosa is associated with an increased risk of colorectal cancer (CRC) in ulcerative colitis (UC), surveillance colonoscopy programmes have been developed with the aim of reducing morbidity and mortality due to CRC, while avoiding unnecessary prophylactic colectomy. Surveillance for CRC in patients with UC involves not only performing repeated colonoscopies, but includes reviewing the patient's symptoms, medications and laboratory test results, as well as updating personal and family medical history. At the onset of these programmes, an initial screening colonoscopy is performed, with the goal of reassessing disease extent and confirming the absence of dysplastic lesions. Thereafter surveillance colonoscopies are regularly performed at defined intervals.

9.2.2. Effectiveness

Statement 9D

Regular follow-up colonoscopies could be carried out, because surveillance colonoscopy may permit earlier detection of CRC, with a corresponding improved prognosis [EL 3a, RG B]

Randomised controlled trials have not been performed to prove whether surveillance colonoscopy is effective. However, a large number of case series have suggested a benefit of surveillance colonoscopy. 90-94 In a retrospective study of 40 patients with UC associated CRC, Giardiello reported that the CRC was detected at a statistically significantly earlier stage when patients were diagnosed in a surveillance programme (Dukes A/B: 67% vs. 9%).⁹⁵

Three case-control studies have addressed this issue. In a population-based, nested case-control study of 142 patients with UC (derived from a study population of 4664 patients) from Stockholm, Sweden, 2 of 40 patients with UC and CRC and 18 of 102 controls had undergone at least one surveillance colonoscopy (RR, 0.29; 95% CI, 0.06-1.31). Twelve controls, but only one patient with UC-CRC, had undergone 2 or more surveillance colonoscopies (RR, 0.22; 95% CI, 0.03-1.74). Although not statistically significant, the investigators suggested that frequent colonoscopy protects against CRC.⁹⁶ In 1990 Lashner et al. reported that 4 of 91 patients who underwent surveillance died of CRC, as compared to 2 of 95 patients who did not undergo surveillance (RR, 2.09; 95% CI, 0.39–11.12). Colectomy was less common in the surveillance group (33 vs. 51; p < 0.05). It was performed, on average, 4 years later (after 10 years of disease) in the surveillance group.⁹⁷ Finally, Choi et al. examined 41 patients who developed CRC between 1974 and 1991.98 In this outcome study, 19 patients who underwent colonoscopic surveillance presented with a significantly earlier stage of cancer compared to 22 patients who did not participate in a colonoscopic surveillance programme (p=0.039). The 5-year survival rate was 77.2% in the surveillance group and 36.3% in the non-surveillance group.

In the Cochrane pooled data analysis of these 3 studies, 8 of 110 patients in the surveillance group died of CRC compared to 13 of 117 patients in the non-surveillance group (RR, 0.81; 95% CI, 0.17–3.83).⁹⁹The Cochrane analysis concluded the following: 'there is no clear evidence that surveillance colonoscopy prolongs survival in patients with extensive colitis. There is evidence that cancers tend to be detected at an earlier stage in patients who are undergoing surveillance, and these patients have a correspondingly better prognosis, but lead-time bias may contribute substantially to this apparent benefit. There is indirect evidence that surveillance is likely to be effective at reducing the risk of death from IBD-associated CRC and indirect evidence that it may be acceptably cost-effective⁹⁹.

More recently, in a study from the Netherlands a total of 149 patients with IBD-associated CRC were identified.¹⁰⁰ Twenty-three had colonoscopic surveillance before CRC was discovered. The 5-year CRC-related survival rate of patients in the surveillance group was 100% compared with 74% in the non-surveillance group (p=0.042). In the surveillance group, only one patient died as a consequence of CRC compared with 29 patients in the control group (p=0.047). In addition, more early tumour stages were found in the surveillance group (p=0.004). These results provide evidence for improved survival from colonoscopic surveillance in IBD patients by detecting CRC at a more favourable tumour stage.

9.2.3. Initial screening colonoscopy and surveillance schedules

Statement 9E

In all patients with UC irrespective of the disease activity, a screening colonoscopy could be carried

out 6–8 years after the beginning of symptoms in order to assess the patient's individual risk profile [EL 5, RG D]

Statement 9F

When disease activity is limited to the rectum without evidence of previous or current endoscopic and/or microscopic inflammation proximal to the rectum, inclusion in a regular surveillance colonoscopy programme is not necessary [EL2a, RG B]

Statement 9G

In cases with concurrent primary sclerosing cholangitis (PSC), surveillance colonoscopies should be carried out yearly from the point of PSC diagnosis irrespective of disease activity and extent [EL3a, RG B]

Statement 9H

The CRC risk profile should be determined at the screening colonoscopy or the first surveillance colonoscopy 6 to 8 years after the first manifestation. Risk stratification mainly depends on extent of disease, severity endoscopic and/or histological inflammation, pseudopolyps, concurrence of PSC, and family history of CRC [EL2b, RG B]

Statement 9I

The individual risk profile dictates surveillance colonoscopy intervals: every 1–2 years (high-risk) or every 3–4 years (low-risk) from the eighth year after the first manifestation in both extensive UC and left-sided UC [EL5, RG D]

The CRC risk profile can be determined at the screening colonoscopy or at the first surveillance colonoscopy 8 years after disease onset. Risk stratification mainly depends on four items (e.g. each of these items to be counted with one point): Pancolitis, endoscopic and/or histological inflammation, pseudopolyps and family history of CRC (low-risk 0–2 and high-risk 3–4 points). Ongoing surveillance colonoscopy should be carried out based on the individual risk profile either every 1–2 years (high-risk) or every 3–4 years

(low-risk) from the eighth year after the disease onset in cases of extensive UC as well as in cases of left-sided UC. If there is no evidence of IEN or endoscopic and/or histological inflammation in two consecutive surveillance colonoscopies the surveillance interval may be increased (e.g. from every 1-2 years to every 3-4 years).

A meta-analysis suggests that follow-up colonoscopies may reduce the risk of dying of a colitis-associated colon carcinoma and are cost-effective. This is based on the fact that colitis-associated colon carcinomas are recognised earlier, although interval carcinomas may occur, nonetheless.⁹⁹

The risk of developing a carcinoma increases with the duration of disease and the disease extent, therefore regular monitoring should start earlier in the case of pancolitis than left-sided or distal colitis. Of note, a Dutch study recently pointed out that up to 22% of patients that develop a colitis-associated colon carcinoma do so prior to commencing surveillance colonoscopies.⁷⁹ If patients suffering from PSC are excluded – as they should be monitored from the time of PSC diagnosis - the carcinomas "missed" are reduced to approximately 15%. Considering this and knowing that a pancolitis may develop from inflammation described initially as a distal colitis without overt clinical symptoms, a full colonoscopy with multiple biopsies should be carried out within 6-8 years after the first symptoms of disease in order to establish the endoscopic and/or microscopic extent of disease and to pace subsequent endoscopic surveillance.

The monitoring interval should vary from 1 to 4 years according to the individual risk profile to prevent the development of interval carcinomas.93,101,102 As the risk for CRC is only minimally increased in patients with proctitis (with no other risk factors), no regular monitoring is required in this group. In contrast, the risk of developing a carcinoma in patients with ulcerative colitis and PSC is not only five times higher, 103 but has been reported to occur early (median 2.9 years) in the course of the disease¹⁰⁴ with carcinomas frequently occurring on the right-hand side of the colon.¹⁰⁵ Therefore, patients should be monitored annually from the diagnosis. After sub-total colectomy with an ileorectal anastomosis or restorative proctocolectomy, carcinomas may occur in the remaining colonic mucosa distally to the anastomosis or within the pouch.¹⁰⁶ Therefore, the remaining colon and/or the pouch should be monitored at regular intervals.

9.3. Colonoscopic procedures

Statement 9J

Good bowel preparation is essential for effective surveillance colonoscopy. If faecal residue is present, repeat colonoscopy should be considered [EL5, RG D]

Statement 9K

Colonoscopic surveillance is best performed when ulcerative colitis is in remission, because it is otherwise difficult to discriminate between dysplasia and inflammation on mucosal biopsies [EL5, RG D]

Surveillance colonoscopies aim to detect neoplasia with a high sensitivity and specificity. If possible, surveillance colonoscopies should be carried out in remission, because remaining inflammatory activity could be misinterpreted as intra-epithelial neoplasia. Similar to screening colonoscopies in the otherwise healthy population, the quality of the preparation will significantly affect the detection rate of lesions.¹⁰⁷ In addition, there is a correlation between the withdrawal time and the detection rate of neoplasias.¹⁰⁸

Statement 9L

Chromoendoscopy with targeted biopsies is the surveillance procedure of choice for appropriately trained endoscopists [EL1b, RG B]. Alternatively, random biopsies (quadrant biopsies every 10 cm) and targeted biopsies of any visible lesion should be performed if white light endoscopy is used [EL3, RG B]

Several studies performed during the last few years have demonstrated that most intraepithelial neoplasias (IEN) can be visualised by high-resolution endoscopy, either as irregular mucosa, strictures or mucous membrane elevations¹⁰⁹⁻¹¹¹ Therefore, it is very important to take targeted biopsies from all visible suspicious lesions. In addition, in order to assess disease extent and mucosal healing it is useful to take 2 biopsies from each colonic segment. Using white light colonoscopy alone, IEN may not be visible macroscopically (about 20%): Rubin et al. were able to demonstrate in a mathematical model that at least 34 "blind" biopsies are required to achieve a 90% confidence interval for detection of carcinomas with 64 biopsies reaching a 95% confidence interval.¹¹² Therefore, we recommend taking four biopsies every 10 cm in order to achieve a 90% certainty of detection, although chromoendoscopy by an appropriately trained endoscopist is the preferred procedure.

Using mathematical modelling Awais¹¹³ calculated the confidence level with which dysplasia can be excluded, the dysplastic field size detection threshold, the predicted area of a dysplastic field, and the number of biopsies needed for a given dysplasia detection threshold and confidence level. In this model, 32 random biopsies provide only 80% confidence that dysplasia involving \geq 5% of the colon can be detected. In order to have 90% confidence of achieving a dysplasia detection threshold equal to enhanced endoscopy (10 mm diameter circle with an area of 0.785 cm²) 4690 random biopsies are required. When one single biopsy out of 18 is dysplastic, this predicts a dysplastic area (89 cm²) several orders of magnitude greater than dysplastic fields that are readily detectable by enhanced endoscopy (1 cm diameter). and the predicted field size increases rapidly with multiple positive biopsies.

The enhanced ability to detect IEN with high-resolution endoscopy makes the strategy of taking random biopsies controversial. Furthermore, a survey on the implementation of the recommendation of 40-50 random biopsies in surveillance colonoscopies in Germany revealed that only 9.2% of the surveillance colonoscopies were performed in accordance with the guidelines.¹¹⁴ The same issue with adherence to surveillance guidelines has been reported in several other countries.^{115–117} The futility of taking random biopsies is also highlighted by the fact that IEN was detected by random biopsy extremely rarely in studies comparing conventional colonoscopy with chromoendoscopy (Kiesslich 2003: 2 IEN in 5,098 random biopsies, ¹¹⁸ Rutter 2004: 0 IEN in 2,906 random biopsies¹¹⁹ and Dekker 2007: 1 IEN in 1,522 random biopies¹²⁰). The preferred alternative is to perform chromoendoscopy (indigo carmine or methylene blue) with targeted biopsies. In two prospective, single centre studies more IEN was discovered with biopsies using chromoendoscopy than by white light endoscopy.^{118,119} Furthermore Hurlstone¹²¹ reported, that high-magnification, indigo carmine-assisted chromoendoscopy can improve the detection of intraepithelial neoplasia in the endoscopic screening of patients with ulcerative colitis.

The value of high-resolution virtual chromoendoscopy (NBI, FICE, iScan) with targeted biopsies has not been sufficiently resolved.¹²⁰ Therefore this should not be used as the surveillance strategy. Nevertheless, it is still unclear how much technical experience is required to perform adequate chromoendoscopy and whether the latest generation of endoscope combining HDI and/or HDTV will permit a similarly high IEN detection rate.

9.4. Chemoprevention

9.4.1. 5-ASA and CRC

Chemopreventive agents are used to inhibit, delay or reverse carcinogenesis. 5-Aminosalicylates (5-ASA) are considered to reduce the risk of colorectal cancer in patients with UC in cohort and case-control studies. A randomised controlled trial specifically designed to confirm this effect is not feasible given the prohibitive number of patients at risk that would need to be enrolled in each arm (1000 to 3000 according to base-case cancer incidences⁷⁸ and projected risk reduction (30 to 50%)). In the meta-analysis by Velayos et al., 3 cohort studies¹²²⁻¹²⁴ and 6 case-control studies published^{84,93,125,126} or presented¹²⁷ up to January 2004 were reviewed.⁸⁷ The risk of CRC was halved in patients exposed to 5-ASA and this reduction was statistically significant (OR 0.51, 95% CI 0.37-0.69). Seven studies have been fully published thereafter.^{82,86,127-130} However, four of them do not differentiate the risk of CRC from that of other forms of advanced dysplasia (CRC and high-grade dysplasia)⁸² or all forms of dysplasia.^{86,87,127} In 2006 Velayos assessed the risk factors for 188 cases of CRC (in patients with UC seen at the Mayo Clinic from 1976 to 2002).87 In the final multivariate model a significant reduction in the risk of CRC associated with an exposure to 5-ASA of at least 1 year (OR 0.4, 95% CI 0.2-0.9) was confirmed. Two further studies were based on the number of 5-ASA prescriptions in large Health Care databases. 128, 129 van Staa et al. suggested from the GPRD database that a regular use of 5-ASA within the year preceding the diagnosis of CRC was associated with a significant reduction in the risk. Similarly, Terdiman et al. found a trend (p=0.08) toward a decreased risk of CRC with increasing number of 5-ASA prescriptions within the year preceding the diagnosis of CRC. However, Bernstein et al. have updated the negative case-control study from the Manitoba database¹²⁶ and still found no favourable effect of 5-ASA. Of note, in this cohort, the disease extent was not reported and the updated analysis was not adjusted for the propensity to receive 5-ASA (although this treatment has probably been specifically prescribed in patients at highest risk of CRC for the purpose of chemoprevention in the last few years). In conclusion, when updating the literature, there is no definite reason to challenge the previous statement that 5-ASA may reduce the incidence of CRC in patients with UC.¹³¹

9.4.2. Patient selection for chemoprevention with 5-ASA

Besides an individual context (such as PSC or a family history of CRC) that may justify endoscopic surveillance and chemoprevention from diagnosis^{131–134}; the three main determinants of excess risk of CRC in patients with UC are the duration of the disease, the cumulative extent of the disease at any time and chronic macroscopic¹¹⁰ and microscopic^{80,85} inflammation of the colonic mucosa.^{131–134} The guestion whether the protective effect of 5-ASA on the CRC risk is different in patients with known risk factors for dysplasia or cancer has not been addressed in the literature. In a case-control study nested in the CESAME cohort, adjusted for the propensity of receiving 5-ASA, a subanalysis was performed in IBD patients with or without longstanding (>10 years) extensive (>50% of colonic mucosa at any time) colitis.¹³⁵ The protective odds-ratio was significant for patients with longstanding extensive colitis (OR 0.5, 95% CI 0.2-0.9) while it was not in the remaining patients (OR 0.8, 95% CI 0.3-1.7). However, the published statements on the chemopreventive effect of 5-ASA in UC are not restricted to particular situations (such as longstanding and/or extensive colitis), ^{131–133} which justifies lifelong chemoprevention from diagnosis in all patients, except for those ongoing isolated proctitis. Many arguments can be listed for legitimating this position: first, a significant proportion of CRC are diagnosed within the first years after the diagnosis, even if a significant proportion of them are likely to be sporadic cases; second, it is established that carcinogenesis of sporadic and inflammation-related CRC is guite different, 134, 136 but given the multiplicity of potential molecular mechanisms of action of 5-ASA on carcinogenesis, ¹³⁷ it is theoretically possible that 5-ASA may have a chemopreventive effect in sporadic CRC as well as in inflammation-driven cancers; third, inflammation appears as an independent important driver for UC-related CRC, 80,84,85,111,133 and it has not been feasible up to now in routine practice to sequentially test for macroscopic and microscopic mucosal healing in order to stratify the impact of chemoprevention according to the inflammation status; finally, one observational cohort study suggested that 5-ASA is not able to significantly decrease the progression from low-grade dysplasia to more advanced stages of neoplasias, 138 and the studies assessing specifically the relation between current exposure to 5-ASA and the risk of dysplasia failed to demonstrate, taking into account a more limited statistical power, a signal toward a chemopreventive effect of 5-ASA on dvsplasia.^{82,84,123,131} This raises the hypothesis that 5-ASA

given from the onset of the disease and for prolonged periods impacts on early steps of inflammation-related carcinogenesis.

9.4.3. Immunosuppressants

Immunomodulators (thiopurines and methotrexate) and biologics (anti-TNF) could theoretically either increase the risk of CRC via immunosuppression, or be chemopreventive via a reduction of chronic mucosal inflammation. There are no data for methotrexate and anti-TNF and the data for thiopurines conflict.^{84,85,87,122,129,139,140} These included the only published study specifically designed to address the chemopreventive effect of thiopurines on the risk of CRC in IBD.¹⁴⁰ There is no evidence for a specific antineoplastic action of thiopurines thus one must assume that thiopurines would diminish the risk of colorectal cancer mainly via an anti-inflammatory effect. If this is true, the effect of thiopurines should be best demonstrated in the subgroup of patients at most risk of inflammation-driven CRC, namely patients with longstanding extensive colitis. The proportion of IBD patients at high risk of CRC in stable clinical remission on thiopurines who have no persistent mucosal microscopic inflammation (i.e. the good candidates for the chemopreventive effect of thiopurines) is low,¹⁴¹ and it is currently impossible to perform subanalysis of such patients in clinical epidemiological studies.

When analysing published series in detail, the use of thiopurines^{80,84,85,87,122,129,139,140} appears restricted to the most severe patients in a classical step-up approach, raising the hypothesis that patients exposed to thiopurines had a level of chronic colonic inflammation at least as severe as patients not exposed. As an illustration, in the study by Matula et al.,¹⁴⁰ patients exposed to thiopurines were more prone to receive corticosteroids or require surgery suggesting a greater mean intrinsic "inflammatory severity." In the nested case-control study Olmsted population,⁸⁷ less than 10% of the case and control patients were exposed to thiopurines. This rate was <1% in the study by Terdiman et al.,¹²⁹ suggesting again drugs were used only in the most severe patients. A more relevant insight may come from tertiary care or population-based cohorts with an early and extensive use of thiopurines, which therefore include a significant proportion of stable responders with no persistent inflammation. In the prospective observational CESAME cohort, one third of the patients were exposed to thiopurines, and it was possible to show in a subgroup of the cohort that the overall yearly clinical activity of IBD in patients exposed to thiopurines was not higher than in patients naïve to immunosuppression.¹⁴² In this cohort, thiopurine use was associated with a three-fold reduction in the risk of advanced neoplasias (high-grade dysplasia and CRC) in IBD patients at high risk of inflammation-driven cancers (longstanding extensive colitis), This trend must be confirmed in other large cohorts with early and extensive use of immunosuppressants.

9.4.4. Other drugs

Patients enrolled in a randomised controlled trial of ursodeoxycholic acid in UC patients with PSC¹⁴³ receiving active drug experienced a significant reduction in CRC suggesting that ursodeoxycholic acid should be given to patients with UC and PSC.^{131–133} Folic acid supplements,

calcium, multivitamins, or statins have not been consistently associated with lower rates of CRC in UC, and no important study in this field has been published since the first evidence-based European consensus on the management of UC.¹³¹

Statement 9M

Chemoprevention with 5-ASA compounds may reduce the incidence of colorectal cancer in UC patients and should be considered for all UC patients [EL2, RG B]. Colorectal cancer chemoprevention with ursodeoxycholic acid should be given to patients with PSC [EL1b, RG B]. There is insufficient evidence to recommend for or against chemoprevention with thiopurines

9.5. Management of dysplasia

Therapeutic recommendations for management of dysplasia in UC are based on macroscopic pattern (flat or elevated) and microscopic characteristics of the lesion (indefinite, low grade or high grade).^{111,144,145}

9.5.1. Microscopic patterns of dysplasia

The current, widely used definition of dysplasia was proposed by Riddell et al. in 1983.¹⁴⁵ Dysplasia was defined as unequivocal neoplasia of the epithelium confined to the basement membrane, without invasion into the lamina propria. Dysplasia is the best and most reliable marker of an increased risk of malignancy in patients with IBD.¹⁴⁶

Dysplasia (intraepithelial neoplasia–IEN) is now generally classified according to the grade of neoplastic change into 3 morphologic categories: "indefinite," "low grade" (LGD), or "high grade" (HGD).¹⁴⁵ However, dysplasia almost certainly evolves along a progressive (continuous) scale rather than in discrete categories. This contributes to the significant degree of variability in interpretation of the grade of dysplasia even among experienced gastrointestinal pathologists.^{147,148} Levels of agreement are highest for the category of HGD and for specimens considered negative for dysplasia, and lower for specimens in the indefinite and LGD categories. These limitations in the assessment of dysplasia have led to the recommendation that histological slides should be reviewed by a second expert gastrointestinal pathologist.

9.5.2. Macroscopic patterns of dysplasia

Statement 9N

Endoscopically visible dysplastic raised lesions within an area within the extent of ulcerative colitis can be divided in adenoma-like and non-adenoma-like by their macroscopic characteristics [EL 2a, RG B]

Statement 90

Presence of low grade or high grade dysplasia should be confirmed by an external second pathologist [EL 1b, RG B]

There is inconsistency in the literature about the definitions used to designate the macroscopic characteristics of dysplastic lesions in UC.^{111,144} Some studies categorise dysplastic lesions as flat only if they are endoscopically undetectable, whereas others include visible plaque-like or slightly raised areas of mucosa in this category also. For the purpose of this evidence-based consensus, flat dysplasia refers to endoscopically undetectable lesions, whereas raised dysplasia refers to any type of endoscopically detectable lesions.

Raised lesions with dysplasia (RLD) in UC have been broadly separated into those that appear similar to non-IBD related sporadic adenomas, referred to as "adenoma-like," and those which do not resemble adenomas: "non-adenoma-like" (the former term "DALM").¹⁴⁹ Adenoma-like RLDs represent well circumscribed, smooth or papillary, nonnecrotic, sessile, or pedunculated polyps that are usually amenable to removal by routine endoscopic methods.^{133,134} Non-adenoma-like lesions include velvety patches, plaques, irregular bumps and nodules, wart-like thickenings, stricturing lesions, and broad-based masses, ^{111,149–151} and are not usually amenable to removal by colonoscopic polypectomy. Non-adenoma, and adenoma-like RLDs are differentiated on the basis of their gross (endoscopic) appearance. Histological features may be helpful, ¹⁵² although both types of lesions may appear identical.^{153,154}

Polyps with dysplasia arising proximal to the macroscopic and histologic involvement by the chronic inflammatory process are considered sporadic and should be treated accordingly.

9.5.3. Management of raised dysplasia

Statement 9P

Adenoma-like raised lesions can be adequately treated by polypectomy provided the lesion can be completely excised shows absence of dysplasia at the margins of the specimen, and there is no evidence of flat dysplasia elsewhere in the colon, either adjacent to, or distant from, the raised lesion [EL 2a, RG B]

Statement 9Q

Patients with non-adenoma-like raised lesions should undergo a colectomy, regardless of the grade of dysplasia detected on biopsy analysis because of the high association with metachronous, or synchronous, carcinoma [EL 2a, RG B]

Statement 9R

Polyps with dysplasia that arise proximal to the segments with macroscopic or histologic involvement are considered as sporadic adenomas and should be treated accordingly [EL 2c, RG B]

Adenoma-like RLDs can be adequately treated with polypectomy and continued surveillance. Four studies have shown no significant difference in the incidence of polyp detection on follow-up between patients with UC and an adenoma-like RLD and patients with UC and a sporadic adenoma, or between either of these two groups of UC patients and a non-UC sporadic adenoma control group.^{111,152,155,156} In one study, 70 dysplastic polyps were resected from 48 patients: during a mean follow-up period of 4.1 years, colonoscopies revealed additional polyps in 48% but none developed carcinoma.¹⁵⁶ Another study included 34 UC patients, 24 with adenoma-like RLDs and 10 with sporadic adenomas, 28 of which were treated by polypectomy; 58.8% of patients with adenoma-like RLDs developed at least one further adenoma-like RLD on follow-up evaluation, one patient had flat low-grade dysplasia, which was resected within 6 months of the initial polypectomy, and another patient, with primary sclerosing cholangitis, developed adenocarcinoma 7.5 years after initial polypectomy. There was no significant difference in the prevalence of polyp formation on follow-up evaluation between UC patients with an adenoma-like RLD (62.5%) and UC patients with a sporadic adenoma (50%), or between either of these two UC patient subgroups and a non-UC sporadic adenoma control group (49%).¹⁵⁵ Another study of 40 patients undergoing endoscopic resection of adenoma-like RLDs reported one case of adenocarcinoma after a mean follow-up period of 4.2 years¹¹¹ this was not significantly different from the frequency of cancer within the surveillance population as a whole. Finally, in one recent follow-up study including 148 patients with UC adenoma-like lesions, 87 patients were treated with polypectomy; during a mean follow-up period of 6 years only 4.6% developed dysplasia (2 of which were ultimately diagnosed with carcinoma).¹⁵²

Biopsies should be taken from the flat mucosa surrounding any dysplastic polyp to assess whether it is involved in the chronic inflammatory process and also to assess whether there is any dysplasia in the surrounding flat mucosa. If an adenoma-like RLD^{111,152,155–157} is detected within an area of inflammation it can be treated conservatively by polypectomy provided the lesion can be completely excised, shows absence of dysplasia at the margins of the specimen, and there is no evidence of flat dysplasia elsewhere in the colon, either adjacent to, or distant from, the RLD.

There is a strong association of metachronous or synchronous carcinoma with non-adenoma-like RLDs, ranging from 38% to 83%.¹⁴⁴ For this reason, it is generally recommended that patients with UC and an endoscopically unresectable non-adenoma-like RLD should undergo a colectomy, regardless of the grade of dysplasia detected on biopsy analysis. However endoscopic mucosal resection has been used for treatment of non-adenoma-like lesions in

UC. In the largest series reporting on the outcome of this approach, there was a larger recurrence rate compared to endoscopic mucosal resection for sporadic lesions (14% vs. 0%, respectively) after a median follow-up of 4.8 years.¹⁵⁸ Finally, if a dysplastic polyp occurs in an area proximal to the microscopic level of inflammation, with no dysplasia in flat mucosa, it can be regarded as a sporadic adenoma and treated accordingly.^{156,159}

9.5.4. Management of flat dysplasia

Statement 9S

Flat high-grade dysplasia warrants a recommendation of colectomy because of the risk of a concomitant or future colorectal cancer [EL 2a, RG B]

Statement 9T

The current evidence is insufficient to assess the balance of risks and benefits of colectomy for flat low-grade dysplasia. The decision to recommend colectomy or continued surveillance is best tailored to the individual after careful discussion [EL 5, RG D]

Current evidence indicates that at the time flat HGD dysplasia is discovered, CRC may already be present in 42% to 67% of cases, although this estimation is based on three studies that include a limited number of cases with HGD (from 6 to 24 patients).^{102,160,161} Furthermore, a review of 10 prospective surveillance trials found that 15 of 47 patients (32%) with HGD developed CRC upon further follow-up,¹⁶⁰ and updated data from the St Mark's surveillance programme indicated that 2 of 8 patients (25%) with HGD who did not have immediate colectomy, progressed to CRC.⁷⁸ Overall, the immediate and subsequent risk of CRC in patients with flat HDG is large enough to warrant a recommendation for colectomy.

Recommendations on the optimal management of UC patients with flat LGD are more controversial, in part because not every study reporting the outcome of LGD distinguished between raised and flat lesions. Although the rate of synchronous CRC is lower for LGD than HDG, it is still considerable. Results of three studies including 10, 11 and 16 patients with LGD identified CRC in colectomy specimens in 20%, 27% and 19%, respectively.^{78,160,162} A meta-analysis of 20 surveillance studies analysed the cancer risk of 477 patients with flat LGD and 31 patients with LGD in a RLD.¹⁶³ The incidence of CRC was 14 per 1000 patient-years. For HGD and/or CRC, it was 30 per 1000 patient-years. The positive predictive value of flat LGD was 22% for synchronous CRC and 36% for synchronous HGD and CRC. The positive predictive value for progression to HGD and CRC was 14.6%. If LGD was detected in a RLD, the rates of synchronous and metachronous cancer were higher. Overall, when LGD is detected on surveillance, there is a 9-fold increased risk of developing CRC, and a 12-fold risk of developing HGD or CRC.¹⁶³

Estimates for the risk of progression from LGD to HGD and CRC, if the lesions are left in place, vary among published studies. The aforementioned meta-analysis indicated that the positive predictive value is approximately 14.6% for progression of flat LDG to HGD and/or CRC, with significant variability present between studies.¹⁶³ High rates of progression have generally been reported in retrospective studies, ranging from 23% on an updated 30-year follow-up from the St Mark's hospital to 33% and 53% 5-year progression in series from the Mayo Clinic¹⁶⁴ and Mt Sinai New York¹⁶² hospitals, respectively. In contrast, other prospective studies have reported lower rates of progression in patients with LGD. One study found only a 3% initial, and 10% subsequent, rate of progression to CRC during a 10-year follow-up period. Since these rates were not significantly higher than the 0.8% and 3% progression rates among patients without dysplasia, this observations suggests that LGD may not be associated with a higher risk of CRC.¹⁰¹ Likewise, a prospective Swedish study found no progression to CRC, and only 2 cases of progression to HGD, over a 10-year period.¹⁶⁵ Furthermore, a summary of 8 studies revealed that after a diagnosis of LGD was made, subsequent surveillance, with an average of 4.3 colonoscopies per patient, detected more HGD lesions (n=47)than CRCs (n=18) or RLDs (n=8).¹⁶³ This may be important if one considers the goal of surveillance to be the prevention of mortality from CRC rather than the detection of HGD.

There may be a difference in natural history of LGD depending on whether dysplasia is found on the initial screening colonoscopy (prevalent dysplasia) or during surveillance colonoscopy (incident dysplasia). A review of 10 prospective studies reported that HGD or CRC developed in 15/55 patients with prevalent dysplasia (29%) in comparison with 33/204 (16%) of those with incident dysplasia.¹⁶⁰ As for the relevance of focality of dysplasia, it has been sometimes assumed that unifocal lesions would be at lower risk of progression that multifocal dysplasia. However, a recent study found that the overall 5-year progression rate of flat LGD to either HGD or CRC was similar in unifocal and multifocal dysplasia.¹⁶⁴

The current evidence is insufficient to assess the balance of risks and benefits of colectomy for flat LGD. Thus, the decision to undergo colectomy versus continued surveillance in patients with flat LGD should be individualised and discussed at length between the patient, the gastroenterologist and the colorectal surgeon. Colectomy will eradicate the risk of CRC, but if a patient is unwilling to undergo colectomy, yearly surveillance is recommended.¹³³

10. Psychosomatics

10.1. Introduction

The controversies about the role of psychosocial factors in UC have been addressed in systematic reviews.^{166–169} A biopsychosocial model^{170,171} represents an advantage over a biomedical model, because it embodies the complex biological and psychosocial interactions that explain human illness. Attention to psychosocial factors associated with ulcerative colitis may have consequences not only on psychosocial well-being and quality of life, but also on the activity of the disease itself.

10.2. Influence of psychological factors on disease

10.2.1. Etiology

Statement 10A

There is no conclusive evidence for anxiety, depression and psychosocial stress contributing to risk for UC onset [EL2c, RG D]

A retrospective nested case–control study with 12,500 participants examined temporal relationships without potential recall bias, limited to patients with UC who obtained treatment for depression or anxiety before UC diagnosis. A significant association was found between depression and UC (OR 1.49, 95% CI 1.12–1.93) when the depression predated UC by more than 5 years, which is unlikely to be influenced by initial UC symptom presentation.¹⁷² Prospective studies on psychosocial stress as a risk for UC onset have not been conducted until now.

10.2.2. Course of disease

Statement 10B

Psychological factors may have an impact on the course of UC. Perceived psychological stress [EL2a, RG B] and depression [EL2a, RG B] are risk factors for relapse of the disease. Depression is associated with low health-related quality of life [EL3a, RG B]. Anxiety is associated with non adherence with treatment [EL4, RG C]

A systematic review demonstrated an association between psychological stress and disease activity in patients with UC.¹⁶⁷ Another systematic review reported a significant relationship between stress and inflammation in 4 longitudinal studies assessing the impact of stress or depression on disease course.¹⁶⁹ A prospective study demonstrated that only high perceived stress (adjusted OR=2.40, 95% CI, 1.35–4.26) was significantly associated with symptomatic flares.¹⁷³ Higher anxiety and depression at baseline were related to more frequent relapses in the follow-up period in a second prospective study.¹⁷⁴ Another study did not find an increased risk of relapse in patients diagnosed with depressive disorder by a psychiatric interview.¹⁷⁵ Depression^{176,177} and neuroticism¹⁷⁸ were associated with low health-related quality of life. Anxiety and moodiness were associated with nonadherence with UC-treatment. $^{\rm 179}$

10.3. Psychological disturbances in ulcerative colitis

Statement 10C

Psychological distress and mental disorder are more common in patients with active ulcerative colitis than in population-based controls, but not in patients in remission [EL3a, RG B]

Statement 10D

Clinicians should particularly assess depression among their patients with active disease and those with abdominal pain in remission [EL 2b, RG B]

A systematic review demonstrated that anxiety and depression are associated with disease activity. However, the prevalence of mental disorders (anxiety and depressive disorders) in patients with active disease is comparable with the one of patients with other chronic somatic diseases.¹⁷⁶ Patients in remission do not differ in the amount of psychological distress and the frequency of mental disorders (anxiety and depressive disorders) from general population controls.¹⁸⁰ There are contradictory findings on the association between gender and depression in patients with active UC.^{180–182} A consistent association between anxiety and depressed mood and the prevalence of IBS-like symptoms in patients in remission has been reported.^{183–185}

10.4. Approach to psychological disorders

10.4.1. Communication with patients

Statement 10E

The psychosocial consequences and healthrelated quality of life of patients should be taken into account in clinical practice at regular visits. Individual information and explanation about the disease should be provided through a personal interview [EL3b, RG B]. Patients' disease control can be improved by combining selfmanagement and patient-centred consultations [EL1b, RG B]

Health perceptions impact on the experience of the illness.¹⁸⁶ Increasing physician awareness of the fact that psychologically distressed patients have difficulty in processing clinically relevant information.¹⁸⁷ may lead to

improved doctor-patient communication.¹⁸⁸ It is important that patients are informed about their condition through an individual interview, in conjunction with emotional support. This is because a lower level of information is associated with greater concern.¹⁸⁹ Since approximately half of the patients in IBD referral centres use the internet to gather IBD-related information, 190, 191 web-based communication programmes seem be feasible and to increase the level of disease specific knowledge.¹⁹² Psychosocial factors are strongly correlated with health care utilization. 193 Medical non-adherence has been reported in over 40% of patients, and this is a situation in which the patient-doctor relationship also plays a key role.¹⁹⁴ Self-management guidebooks together with patient-centred consultations improve patients' disease control.^{195,196} It should however be recognised that educational booklets on their own do not seem to be helpful and may even worsen the health-related quality of life of patients attending tertiary centres.¹⁹⁷ In addition, patient education programmes seem to have very limited or even no influence on the course of their illness, their health-related quality of life, or their psychological effect. 198-202

10.4.2. Psychological support

Statement 10F

Physicians should screen patients for anxiety, depression and need for additional psychological care and recommend psychotherapy if indicated [EL 2b, RG B]. Patients should be informed of the existence of patient associations [EL 5, RG D]

The presence of psychological disorders contributes to poor quality of life and the number of doctor visits, regardless of the severity of the condition.¹⁹³ A validated questionnaire based on inflammatory bowel disease is available to assess the demand for psychological care.^{203,204} Approximately one third of patients attending an IBD centre express a need for psychological intervention.²⁰⁴ Anxiety, younger age as well as impaired social support increased this demand. Detection and treatment of psychological distress has the potential to improve health-related quality of life.²⁰⁵ For assessment of quality of life, two validated IBD-specific questionnaires have been shown to be sensitive, reproducible and responsive for use in clinical trials: the Inflammatory Bowel Disease Questionnaire (IBDQ)²⁰⁶ and the Rating Form of Inflammatory Bowel Disease Patient Concerns (RFIPC).²⁰⁷ Since strategies aimed at improving social support can have a favourable impact on psychological distress, 208,209 training gastroenterologists to integrate psychosocial factors in clinical practice is important. Because patients describe deficiencies in the care of family members, insufficient information and inadequate access to healthcare resources, ²¹⁰ integrated psychosomatic care should be available. Integrated psychosomatic care can be defined as a combined somatic (gastroenterology) and psychological (psychotherapist, psychologist, psychiatrist) care of patients, especially in tertiary centres.

10.4.3. Therapeutic intervention

Statement 10G

Psychotherapeutic interventions are indicated for psychological disorders and low quality of life associated with ulcerative colitis [EL 1b, RG B]

Some studies have shown that psychotherapy and relaxation methods have a positive influence on the psychological dimensions of the illness such as psychological well-being, coping strategies, quality of life and psychological distress^{211–216} as well as perception of pain.²¹⁷ The effects of psychosocial interventions on quality of life, coping, emotional state and disease activity in ulcerative colitis were assessed in a systematic review.²¹⁸ The authors concluded that psychotherapeutic interventions in general, if applied to unselected patients, are not likely to have a relevant positive effect. Therefore, the diagnosis of ulcerative colitis is insufficient alone to recommend psychotherapy in adult patients, but in adolescents, psychological interventions may be beneficial.²¹⁸

10.4.4. Therapeutic choice

Statement 10H

The choice of psychotherapeutic method depends on the psychological disturbance and should best be made by specialists (Psychotherapist, Specialist for Psychosomatic Medicine, Psychiatrist). Psychopharmaceuticals should be prescribed for defined indications [EL 5, RG D]

There is no evidence that one psychotherapeutic method should be preferred over another. Relaxation exercises are useful,^{216,217} since they are easy to learn and perform. Expert opinion believes that there is an advantage if the psychotherapist has experience in the treatment of patients with chronic inflammatory bowel diseases and works closely with the patient's gastroenterologist. There are no specific studies on the use of individual psychopharmaceuticals in ulcerative colitis.²¹⁹ In spite of this, almost all experts believe that there are clinical situations in which antide-pressants should be recommended for treatment of psychological distress associated with ulcerative colitis.

11. Extraintestinal manifestations of ulcerative colitis

11.1. Introduction

Extraintestinal manifestations (EIMs) are common in UC affecting up to 35% of patients.^{220,221} Detailed prospective studies using adequate diagnostic criteria are rare. Most

reports are retrospective and based on review of patients' files. The occurrence of one EIM often seems to predispose to others. The activity of certain EIMs such as peripheral arthritis, erythema nodosum, oral aphthous ulcers and episcleritis are related to UC activity. In contrast, pyoderma gangrenosum, uveitis, axial arthropathy and primary sclerosing cholangitis (PSC) usually run an independent course.

For those EIMs whose activity mirror the colitis, treatment can parallel that of the underlying disease. Treatment otherwise is mainly on a case by case basis as RCTs are lacking. This section concentrates on the more frequently encountered EIMs for which at least some quantifiable data exist, and does not include systemic consequences of severe UC such as iron deficiency or malnutrition.

Statement 11A

Diagnosis of non-axial arthritis and arthropathy associated with UC is made on clinical grounds based on characteristic features and exclusion of other specific forms of arthritis [EL3b, RG C]. Type I is pauciarticular and affects large joints acutely at times of UC activity Type II is polyarticular, affecting a larger number of peripheral joints independently of UC activity [EL2b, RG B]. Axial arthritis, including sacro-iliitis and ankylosing spondylitis, is diagnosed on conventional rheumatological grounds, and is supported by characteristic radiological changes, magnetic resonance imaging being the most sensitive [EL2b, RG B]. Although HLA B27 is over-represented in axial arthritis related to UC this is not of diagnostic value [EL2b, RG B]

11.2. Arthropathy

11.2.1. Peripheral arthropathy

The Oxford group subclassified peripheral arthropathy into type I and type II, but only type I is associated with intestinal disease activity.²²² Type 1 is pauciarticular and affects large (predominantly weight bearing) joints including the ankles, knees, hips, wrists and sometimes elbows and shoulders. By convention less than five joints are affected. The arthritis is acute, self limiting (weeks rather than months) and typically asymmetric. This arthropathy is observed in 4-17% of patients with UC. Type II is a polyarticular arthritis mainly affecting the small joints of the hand but independent of UC activity and is observed is 2.5% of patients with UC.²²² The diagnosis of arthritis is made clinically from the finding of painful swollen joints (synovitis). The differential diagnosis includes osteoarthritis, rheumatoid arthritis and arthritis associated with connective tissue diseases such as lupus. It has to be differentiated from arthralgia (which may complicate corticosteroid withdrawal), osteonecrosis related to corticosteroids, and infliximab related lupus-like syndrome.²²³

11.2.2. Axial arthropathy

Axial arthropathy includes sacroiliitis and spondylitis. Irrespective of the presence of inflammatory back pain, isolated radiographic sacroiliitis has been found in 25-50% of patients with UC.^{224–226} The diagnosis of ankylosing spondylitis (AS) according to the modified Rome criteria²²⁷ includes a chronic inflammatory back pain (at night and at rest, improving by exercise), morning stiffness, limited spinal flexion and, in later stages, reduced chest expansion. Radiographs demonstrate sacroiliitis, syndesmophytes and bone proliferation evolving to ankylosis ("bamboo spine"). While computed tomography is more sensitive for detecting structural abnormalities than simple radiographs, the current gold standard is magnetic resonance imaging due to its ability to demonstrate inflammation before bone lesions occur.^{228,229} The overall prevalence of AS in IBD ranges from 4-10%. HLA-B27 is found in 25-75% of patients with UC and ankylosing spondylitis^{224,230-232} but only in 7-15% of patients with isolated sacroiliitis. HLA-B27 positive IBD patients seem to be at risk for the development of AS.²³²

11.2.3. Treatment of arthropathy related to ulcerative colitis

Statement 11B

In peripheral arthritis treatment of the underlying UC is normally effective in relieving symptoms [EL 5, RGD]. For persistent symptoms in the absence of active UC there is general support for use of short term treatment with non-steroidal antiinflammatory agents. Local steroid injections and physiotherapy are also effective [EL4, RG D]. Sulfasalazine has a role in persistent peripheral arthritis [EL1a, RG B]. In axial arthropathy arguments in favour of intensive physiotherapy [EL2a, RG B], associated with NSAIDs are stronger, but safety concerns mean that long-term treatment with NSAIDs is best avoided if possible [EL1b, RG B]. Sulfasalazine [EL1a, RG B], methotrexate [EL1b, RG B] and azathioprine [EL3b, RG C] are generally ineffective, or only marginally effective. The efficacy of anti-TNF therapy for patients with ankylosing spondylitis and UC intolerant or refractory to NSAIDs is well established [EL1b, RG B]

Recommendations for the treatment of IBD-related arthropathy are based on studies in spondyloarthropathy, predominantly ankylosing spondylitis. No single prospective controlled trial in IBD patients is available in the literature. Only small open-label trials or case reports are published.^{233–236}

In peripheral arthritis the emphasis should be on the treatment of the underlying UC, including corticosteroids, immunomodulators and anti-TNF agents as appropriate. Symptomatic relief may be obtained by rest and physio-therapy. Although there is concern that NSAIDs may aggravate the underlying UC^{237,238}, this risk seems low, particularly if prescribed at low dose and for short

duration.²³⁹ The use of COX-2 inhibitors such as etoricoxib and celocoxib appears safer with a lower risk of disease flare than conventional NSAIDs.^{240,241} A beneficial effect of sulfasalazine on large joint arthropathy has been reported.^{242,243} Several open-label studies and some controlled trials have demonstrated an impressive effect of IFX on peripheral arthritis.²⁴⁴

Treatment of axial arthropathy in UC is based on evidence from ankylosing spondylitis. It should include intensive physiotherapy. NSAIDs are the mainstay of medical therapy and recommended as first line therapy in AS. However long-term treatment with high-dose NSAIDs is generally inadvisable in patients with UC. The effect of corticosteroids is poorly reported. Local corticosteroid injections can be considered. Sulfasalazine, methotrexate and azathioprine are considered to be ineffective or only marginally effective in AS with axial symptoms.²⁴⁵ In patients with active AS refractory to or intolerant of NSAIDs, anti-TNF agents are recommended. The efficacy and safety of IFX and ADA in ankylosing spondylitis are now well established.^{228,244,246–251}

11.3. Metabolic bone disease

Low bone mass and osteoporosis are common in both male and female patients with UC (20%–50%). Contributing factors include chronic inflammation, corticosteroid treatment, age, smoking, low physical activity and nutritional deficiencies.²⁵² Diagnosis of osteoporosis is best made by a *T* score <-2.5 on bone densitometry (DEXA scanning) in patients over 50 years old and in patients under 50 "low bone mass" is defined by a *Z*-score <2.0.

Statement 11C

Diagnosis of osteoporosis in adults is best made from a T score of less than -2.5 on radiographic bone densitometry [EL1a, RG A], all other diagnostic methods having current limitations [EL2b, RG B]. The presence of osteoporosis identifies patients at above average risk for fracture and who should receive treatment [EL2b, RG B]

The precision and reproducibility of ultrasound and Q-CT is not sufficient for repeated clinical measurements.²⁵³ DEXA scanning is best performed in all patients with persistently active UC, in those repeatedly exposed to corticosteroids and patients with long disease duration. The presence of osteoporosis identifies patients at above average risk for fracture, who should receive treatment. The presence of osteoporosis is one (but not the only) risk factor for fractures of the spine and peripheral long bones. In recent studies, vertebral fractures have been documented in patients with both reduced and normal bone density; challenging the concept that osteoporosis is the main risk factor for vertebral fractures in young patients with IBD.^{254–256} The strongest predictor of future fracture is a prior vertebral fracture. There is, therefore, a need for prospective studies in young and premenopausal IBD patients to establish a valid assessment tool like the FRAX index used for postmenopausal women.^{257,258}

Statement 11D

Osteopenia may be a prognostic marker for future osteoporosis, but presents little direct risk [EL2b, RG C]. However if the *T* score is less than -1.5, treatment with calcium and vitamin D should be recommended [EL4, RG C]. Pre-existing history of fracture is of substantial adverse prognostic significance and patients should be treated for osteoporosis even if the *T* score is normal [EL4, RG C]

Treatment with calcium 500–100 mg/day and vitamin D (800–1000 IU/day) increases bone density in patients with IBD.²⁵² The value of calcium and vitamin D in preventing fractures has not been demonstrated in patients with IBD, although there is value in postmenopausal or steroid-induced osteoporosis.²⁵⁹ Various bisphosphonates increase bone density in patients with UC (for review see INS; Ref. ²⁵²). Fracture prevention with bisphosphonates has been clearly established in postmenopausal women and steroid-induced osteoporosis but not in young, premenopausal patients with UC. Therefore a general recommendation of treatment with bisphosphanates on the basis of reduced bone density is not feasible. In individual patients with low bone density and additional risk factors treatment should be considered.

Statement 11E

Weight-bearing exercise [EL2b, RG B], stopping smoking [EL3b, RG C], avoiding alcohol excess [EL4, RG D], and maintaining adequate dietary calcium (>1 g/day) [EL 2b, RG B] are beneficial. In post-menopausal women with osteoporosis, regular use of bisphosphonates, calcitonin and its derivatives, and raloxifene reduce or prevent further bone loss [EL2b, RG C]. Data in males with osteoporosis are less secure but bisphosphonates are probably of value [EL3 b, RG C]. Newer data also support the use of strontium salts [EL2a, RG B]. Patients receiving systemic steroid therapy should receive calcium and vitamin D for prophylaxis [EL5, RG D]

Patient's with persistently active disease should be treated according to guidelines with immunosuppressive therapy (azathioprine, $TNF\alpha$ antibodies) to avoid prolonged steroid treatment and general inflammatory activity. It has been shown that a significant proportion of patients with IBD are able to normalise their bone density after 3 years in stable remission.²⁶⁰ Newer drugs like teriparatide, strontium

ranelate or recombinant OPG should be prospectively studied in patients with UC before their use can be recommended.

11.4. Cutaneous manifestations

Statement 11F

Diagnosis of the cutaneous manifestations of IBD is made on clinical grounds, based on their characteristic features and (to some extent) the exclusion of other specific skin disorders; biopsy can be helpful in atypical cases [EL3b, RG C]

Statement 11G

Treatment of erythema nodosum is usually based on that of the underlying Ulcerative Colitis. Systemic steroids are usually required [EL4, RG D]. Pyoderma gangrenosum is initially treated with systemic steroids, topical or oral calcineurin inhibitors [EL4, RG D], infliximab [EL1b, RG C] or adalimumab [EL3b, RG C]

11.4.1. Erythema nodosum (EN)

EN is readily recognised and characterised by raised, tender, red or violet subcutaneous nodules of 1-5 cm in diameter. It commonly affects the extensor surfaces of the extremities, particularly the anterior tibial areas and usually occurs at times of UC activity. A firm clinical diagnosis can normally be made and biopsy is not usually appropriate. If performed, the histology reveals a non-specific focal panniculits.^{261,262} The prevalence of EN in IBD ranges from $4.2-7.5\%^{221,263,264}$ and seems to be higher in CD than in UC.²⁶⁴ The differential diagnosis includes metastatic CD, which may appear at any site as solitary or multiple nodules, plaques, ulcers, or violaceous perifollicular papules, the histology of which includes non-caseating granulomas.²⁶⁵ Because EN is closely related to disease activity despite a genetic link, 266 treatment is based on that of the underlying UC. Systemic steroids are usually required. In resistant cases or when there are frequent relapses, immunomodulation with azathioprine, infliximab or adalimumab may be used. 267, 268

11.4.2. Pyoderma gangrenosum (PG)

Lesions are often preceded by trauma at the site through a phenomenon known as pathergy.²⁶⁹ PG can occur anywhere on the body, including the genitalia, but the commonest sites are on the shins and adjacent to stomas. Initially they take the form of single or multiple erythematous papules or pustules, but subsequent necrosis of the dermis leads to the development of deep excavating ulcerations that contain purulent material that is sterile on culture unless secondary wound infection has occurred. In recent publications 0.6–2.1% of UC patients developed PG.^{263,264,270} PG may parallel the activity of the underlying UC or run a course that is independent of it. PG is a diagnosis of exclusion and might be misdiagnosed in a substantial percentage of cases.²⁷¹ Histopathological findings in PG are non-specific, but biopsy can be helpful to exclude other specific skin disorders.

Rapid healing should be the therapeutic goal, because PG can be a debilitating skin disorder. There is no evidence that the efficacy of treatment strategies for PG differs between IBD and non-IBD patients. Immunosuppression is the mainstay of treatment. Traditionally the most commonly used drugs with the best clinical experience were systemic corticosteroids and ciclosporin. Corticosteroids have been considered first line treatment, with intravenous ciclosporin and oral and intravenous tacrolimus reserved for refractory cases.²⁷²⁻²⁷⁵ Infliximab has, however, changed the management of PG in patients with UC. Its effectiveness was first reported in small case studies.²⁷⁶ The largest study on the treatment of PG with IFX was a multicentre, randomised, placebo-controlled trial of 30 patients, including 19 patients with IBD.²⁷⁷ IFX 5 mg/kg or placebo was given at week 0. At week 2 (the primary end point), significantly more patients in the IFX group had improved compared to placebo (46% vs. 6%, p=0.025). At week 2, subjects in both arms were then offered open-label IFX. Overall, 29 patients received IFX with the majority of them demonstrating a beneficial clinical response: response 69%, remission 31% at week 6. The response rate was over 90% in patients with short duration of PG (<12 weeks) and less than 50% in those with disease present for more than 3 months. Until now, no trial has compared the efficacy of different immunosuppressive drugs. IFX should be considered if a rapid response to corticosteroids cannot be achieved. In patients with peristomal PG, closure of the stoma might lead to resolution of the PG lesions.²⁷⁸ Topical tacrolimus is an alternative, but specialist advice is recommended.

11.4.3. Sweet's syndrome

Sweet's syndrome is characterised by tender, red inflammatory nodules or papules, usually affecting the upper limbs, face or neck.²⁷⁹ It has only been recognised as an extraintestinal manifestation of IBD relatively recently.^{280,281} It is part of the group of acute neutrophilic dermatoses that includes pyoderma gangrenosum, but can be distinguished by its appearance, distribution and histological features. There is a strong predilection for women and patients with colonic involvement and other extraintestinal manifestations. The rash is mostly associated with active disease. Systemic corticosteroids have been reported to be effective.

11.4.4. Anti-TNF-induced skin inflammation

Statement 11H

Anti-TNF treatment can induce paradoxical inflammation of the skin [EL4] which is a class-drug effect and is usually reversible upon drug cessation [EL4]. When diagnosis is uncertain, referral to a dermatologist for expert opinion is recommended [EL5 RG D]. Treatment is based almost entirely on extrapolation from paradoxical skin inflammation in other chronic diseases and it may include topical steroid therapy, topical keratolytic agents, vitamin D analogues, methotrexate, switching anti-TNF or anti-TNF discontinuation [EL3b RGC]

Several centres have reported the development of psoriatic and eczematous lesions in patients with CD and UC receiving anti-TNF therapy, an observation which did not seem to relate to the age of the patient or the duration of treatment.²⁸² Several isolated case reports have been described, and controlled case-series have been published.^{282,283}

Skin lesions are reported in approximately 22% of patients treated on anti-TNF therapy. Psoriasiform eczema, eczema and xerosis were the most commonly observed type of skin lesions and anti-neutrophilic antibodies (ANA) were positively associated with skin paradoxical inflammation.²⁸⁴

In a French collaborative study, Rahier et al. assessed clinical characteristics, risk factors, and outcomes of skin disease in patients with inflammatory bowel diseases that presented with psoriatic and eczematous lesions induced by anti-TNF- α agents.²⁸³ A total of 85 patients including CD and UC that developed psoriatic (62 patients) and eczematous lesions (23 lesions) were studied. Locations of eczematous lesions varied whereas scalp and flexural varieties were mostly psoriatic. Skin lesions were not associated with IBD activity, but were more frequent among females and occurred with any type of anti-TNF- α agent (infliximab, adalimumab or certolizumab). Topical therapy with corticosteroids, keratolytics (salicylic acid, urea), emollients, vitamin D analogues and ultraviolet (UV) therapy (UVA or narrow band UVB) resulted in partial or total remission in almost 50% of patients. Patients with psoriatic lesions that did not improve with topical therapy and that switched anti-TNF- α therapies occasionally developed recurrent lesions, suggesting class effect. Overall, 34% of patients had to discontinue anti TNF agents due to uncontrolled skin lesions.²⁸³ The largest case series, however, is derived from the rheumatological literature, and the treatment is mainly based on expert opinion. 285,286

11.5. Ocular manifestations

Statement 111

Patients with ocular manifestations should be referred to an ophthalmologist [EL5, RG D]. Episcleritis may not require systemic treatment and will usually respond to topical steroids or NSAID [EL4, RG D]. Uveitis is treated with steroids, and it may be necessary to use both topical and systemic routes [EL3b, RG C]. Immunomodulatory therapy including anti TNF may be helpful in resistant cases [EL4, RG D]

Uveitis and episcleritis are the most common ocular manifestations of IBD. Episcleritis may be painless, presenting

simply with hyperaemic sclera and conjunctiva, but itching and a burning sensation may also occur.²⁸⁷ Episcleritis may be self-limiting but will usually respond to topical steroids or NSAID, simple analgesics alongside the treatment of the underlying UC.²⁸⁷

Uveitis is less common but has potentially more severe consequences. When related to UC it is frequently bilateral, insidious in onset and long-lasting.²⁸⁷ Patients complain of eye pain, blurred vision, photophobia and headaches. The possibility of progression to loss of vision should prompt urgent referral to an ophthalmologist. Slit-lamp examination will confirm the diagnosis and permit the differentiation between anterior and posterior uveitis. The treatment will usually consist of both topical and systemic steroids.²⁸⁷ Azathioprine, methotrexate, infliximab and adalimumab have each been reported to be valuable in resistant cases.

11.6. Hepatobiliary disease

Statement 11J

Diagnosis of hepatobiliary disorders in association with ulcerative colitis follows the standard investigatory pathways prompted by abnormal liver function tests, with ultrasound scanning, and serology to identify specific auto-immune and infective causes [EL2a, RG B]. Magnetic resonance cholangiography is now established as the first-line diagnostic test for primary sclerosing cholangitis [EL2a, RG B]. Primary sclerosing cholangitis substantially increases the risk of both cholangiocarcinoma and colorectal carcinoma [EL1a, RG A]

Liver test abnormalities are common in IBD and are associated with a small but significant reduction in survival.²⁸⁸ Primary sclerosing cholangitis (PSC) constitutes the most important condition relatively specific to the underlying IBD. However, pericholangitis, steatosis, chronic hepatitis, cirrhosis, and gallstone formation are also over-represented. In addition, many of the drugs used for IBD have the potential to cause hepatotoxicity. In most cases, the condition will be detected by abnormal liver function tests on routine screening rather than symptoms or signs of liver disease. A predominantly obstructive pattern of liver enzymes or the presence of biliary symptoms will prompt ultrasonographic assessment, which may reveal gall stone disease, steatosis or frank cirrhosis; less often it will show an abnormal duct pattern suggestive of PSC. If ultrasound scanning is normal, drug side effects have been thought unlikely, and serological tests for other primary liver disease are negative then the probability of PSC is significantly increased. The usual diagnostic test is magnetic resonance cholangiography (MRCP), which will show the characteristic pattern of irregular bile ducts, containing areas of both narrowing and dilatation.^{289,290} If MRCP is normal it is safer and probably more often diagnostic (given probable predominant small duct disease) to perform a liver biopsy than diagnostic endoscopic retrograde cholangiography (ERCP) to confirm PSC.^{290,291} PSC is a major risk factor for cholangiocarcinoma and colon cancer.²⁹¹

Statement 11K

Ursodeoxycholic acid improves abnormal liver function tests [EL1b, RG B], but not histology and prognosis in PSC. ERCP should be used to treat dominant strictures by dilatation and/or stenting [EL4, RG C]. Advanced liver disease may necessitate transplantation [EL2a, RG B]

Ursodeoxycholic acid (ursodiol) was promptly adopted as a treatment for PSC once it was shown to improve liver enzymes,²⁹² but it has taken some time for reasonably convincing evidence to emerge supporting true benefit from a 20 mg/kg daily dose in respect of histological progression.²⁹³ However in a recent placebo-controlled study with high dose ursodiol (28-30 mg/kg/day) patients in the ursodiol group had a significantly worse outcome despite improvement of liver function tests.²⁹⁴ Therefore, ursodiol doses should not exceed 20 mg/kg/day. Ursodiol may reduce the risk of colonic cancer in patients with PSC.^{143,295} The benefit of steroid therapy has been examined with conflicting results. Tacrolimus resulted in a rapid decrease in liver enzymes but no histological improvement²⁹⁶ ERCP may still be needed to confirm the diagnosis of PSC in a few cases, and it remains the procedure of choice to manage dominant biliary strictures.²⁹¹ In advanced disease with liver failure there is no alternative to liver transplantation but recurrence of PSC in the transplanted liver occurs in approximately 20% of patients.²⁹⁷ Because of the higher risk of colorectal cancer, it is generally considered appropriate to perform annual screening colonoscopy from the time of diagnosis.

11.7. Venous thromboembolism

Statement 11L

The risk of thrombosis and related mortality is doubled in patients with UC compared to controls [EL2, RG C]. In patients at risk for thromboembolism prevention with both mechanical thromboprophylaxis and heparin (LMWH or UFH) should be considered [EL5, RG D]. Treatment of venous thromboembolism in IBD should follow established antithrombotic therapy options [EL 1a, RG A] taking into account the potentially increased risk of bleeding [EL5, RG D]

Patients with IBD are at increased risk for venous thromboembolism (VTE), which represents an important cause of morbidity and mortality. The prevalence of VTE in IBD ranges between 1.2 and 6.7% in clinical studies.^{298–301} A population-based study and a case–control study revealed that IBD patients have at least a 2-fold greater risk than the general population and control subjects, respectively.^{299,302,303} Furthermore, the risk of recurrence is increased in IBD patients in comparison with non-IBD patients³⁰⁴ Deep venous thromboses (DVT) of the leg and pulmonary emboli (PE) are the most common thromboembolic manifestations, but unusual sites of VTE, such as cerebrovascular, portal, mesenteric and retinal veins have also been described. The reason for the increased risk is not completely understood. Acquired risk factors appear to be most relevant and many of the haemostatic alterations parallel inflammatory activity.³⁰¹ Thus, the majority of VTE occurs during the active phase of IBD.²⁹⁹

The diagnosis of VTE is not considered in further detail and should follow international guidelines^{305,306} based on appropriate imaging techniques. The most widely used procedures are ultrasound and venography for diagnosis of DVT and ventilation-perfusion scan and multidetector helical computer axial tomography for diagnosis of PE.

The mainstay of therapy of acute DVT and PE is anticoagulation and should follow international guidelines.^{307,308} The benefit of anticoagulant treatment is independent of the diagnosis of UC. In patients with acute DVT and/or PE anticoagulant therapy should be continued, if possible, for at least 3 months using low-molecular-weight heparin, unfractioned heparin or fondaparinux for initial treatment followed by vitamin K antagonists. Long-term treatment should be considered for patients with a second episode of unprovoked venous thromboembolism.

The risk of bleeding complications of IBD patients under anticoagulant therapy compared to non-IBD patients is not known. Major gastrointestinal bleeding may occur, but is rare. A meta-analysis which evaluated the use of heparin for the treatment of UC included 8 randomised-controlled trials³⁰⁹ In 6 of 268 patients in the heparin groups an increase in rectal bleeding was reported: only 3 of them had to be withdrawn from the study, including one patient who required urgent surgery. Hospitalisation for an acute medical illness is independently associated with an 8 fold-increased risk for VTE.³¹⁰ This risk can be reduced by anticoagulant prophylaxis with low-molecular-weight heparin, unfractioned heparin, or fondaparinux.^{310,311} The number of IBD patients included in the studies was too small to draw any sufficient conclusions about the efficacy of anticoagulant prophylaxis specifically in IBD.^{312,313} However, hospitalised IBD patients have a higher rate of VTE than non-IBD hospitalised patients, with an associated increased age- and comorbidity-related excess mortality from VTE^{298,300} Hospitalised patients with acute severe or fulminant disease are most appropriately treated with anticoagulant prophylaxis with low-molecular-weight heparin, unfractioned heparin, or fondaparinux, especially in the event of prolonged immobilisation. 299, 300, 311-313 Anticoagulant prophylaxis after abdominal surgery should follow established guidelines.³¹⁰ Non-IBD specific risk factors for VTE might further increase the risk. Thus, UC patients should be informed about risk factors for VTE such as oral contraceptive use and long-distance travel.

11.8. Cardiopulmonary disease

Cardiac involvement should be considered not only rare, but is usually subclinical. The treatment of IBD-related cardiac involvement depends on the specific pattern of involvement and patients should be seen by a cardiologist. Pulmonary disease represents the least frequent extraintestinal manifestation of IBD, but it is likely that its true prevalence is unknown. Respiratory symptoms may be present in >50% of IBD patients, but these are often mild, attributed to smoking, or ignored. Drugs, including sulfasalazine, mesalazine and methotrexate may cause a pneumonitis. Respiratory symptoms in patients on anti-TNF therapy should never be ignored, because it may indicate the onset of serious opportunistic infection. The treatment of IBD-related respiratory disease depends on the specific pattern of involvement. Colonic

11.9. Anaemia

11.9.1. Introduction

surgery may aggravate prior airway disease.

The subject of anaemia has previously received little attention, ³¹⁴ and was not covered as a separate issue in the first edition of these guidelines. However, anaemia is the most common extraintestinal manifestation of IBD. It is not always easy to obtain specific data on UC, but recent epidemiological data confirm that anaemia occurs frequently in both CD and UC.³¹⁵ Anaemia is particularly common in severe disease, affecting 66% of all inpatients³¹⁶ and 40% of patients in referral centres.³¹⁵ Iron deficiency is more prevalent than anaemia, being present in up to 45% of IBD patients.^{316,317}

Anaemia is a very relevant clinical condition that may affect quality of life or the ability to work.³¹⁸ Furthermore, it can be associated with severe co-morbidities such as transfusion-associated hepatitis C, postsurgical complications³¹⁹ or even risk of death.³²⁰ Most of these facts have been fully recognised only in recent years,³¹⁶ and an international group of experts has developed guidelines.³²¹ And there are other reviews for the reader looking for more detail.^{322,323}

In UC, the two most important factors are iron deficiency and active inflammation, while haemolytic anaemia and drug-induced anaemia are more uncommon.³²² Iron deficiency anaemia (IDA) may result from chronic blood loss, reduced iron intake or absorption, the anaemia of chronic disease (ACD, also known as anaemia of inflammation) and anaemia of mixed origin (AMO). Although uncommon, vitamin B_{12} or folate deficiency and drug-induced anaemia (sulfasalazine, thiopurines, methotrexate, calcineurin inhibitors) should also be born in mind. Determination of the causal factors is not only of academic interest: effective treatment is possible only if the contributing factors in a particular patient are clearly defined.³¹⁶

Statement 11M

Anaemia is defined according to the WHO criteria [EL5, RGD]. The major forms of anaemia in ulcerative colitis are iron-deficient anaemia, anaemia of chronic disease and anaemia of mixed origin [EL5, RG D]

Anaemia is defined by the WHO as a decline in blood haemoglobin to a concentration of <12 g/dL (120 g/L) in

women and <13 g/dL (130 g/L) in men. These parameters can equally be applied to patients with ulcerative colitis. However, when determining anaemia purely on the basis of haemoglobin levels, it is important to take account of pregnancy, altitude, cigarette smoking, and possibly ethnicity.³²⁴ Therefore, the WHO has defined differentiated international cutoff values of haemoglobin and haematocrit.³²¹

Full evaluation of a patient should include not only haemoglobin, but also haematological values, iron status, vitamin $B_{12}\,$ and folic acid levels, and inflammation markers. 321

11.9.2. Diagnosis of iron deficiency

Statement 11N

Diagnostic criteria for iron deficiency depend on the level of colonic inflammation. In patients without any evidence of inflammation a serum ferritin level <30 mcg/L or transferrin saturation <16% define iron deficiency. In the presence of inflammation, the lower limit of serum ferritin consistent with normal iron stores is 100 mcg/L [EL2, RG B]. In the presence of biochemical or clinical evidence of inflammation, the diagnostic criteria for anaemia of chronic disease (ACD) are a serum ferritin >100 mcg/L and transferrin saturation <16%. If the serum ferritin level is between 30 mcg/L and <100 mcg/L a combination of true iron deficiency and ACD is likely [EL 2, RG B]

Normally, low mean cell volume (MCV) and low mean corpuscular haemoglobin (MCH) are reliable parameters of iron deficiency. However, in UC a normal MCV does not exclude iron deficiency as the cause of anaemia, as patients treated with azathioprine or 6-mercaptopurine may have normal or even elevated MCV. Conversely, low MCV does not necessarily imply iron deficiency, because in the presence of ACD it can be normal or low.^{317,325} The accuracy of diagnosis for IDA can be improved substantially by including iron metabolism parameters.^{317,326}

Isolated iron deficiency, in the absence of inflammation, is usually indicated by the combination of low iron, low ferritin and low transferrin saturation (TfS) with increased transferrin receptor concentrations (sTfR). However, the diagnosis of iron deficiency may also be complicated in UC by the fact that, in this context, iron deficiency and the anaemia of chronic disease frequently coexist and interact in a complex manner, ³²⁶ so that a reliable differentiation using these laboratory methods may be impossible. ³²³ In order to determine the exact type of anaemia in any specific clinical scenario, a combination of parameters should be assessed. ³²³

In the absence of biochemical (elevated CRP, leukocytosis) or clinical inflammation, ferritin is a reliable indicator of iron storage levels. A serum ferritin level <15 μ g/L indicates absolute iron deficiency.³²¹ A TfS level below 16% is also a sensitive marker of iron deficiency, though it has a low specificity of only 40–50%.³²⁷

However, as ferritin, like transferrin, is affected by the acute-phase reaction, an increase in serum ferritin levels can occur in the course of inflammatory processes, suggesting normal iron status in patients who actually have iron deficiency. Therefore, measurements of inflammatory parameters that are independent of iron metabolism (ESR, CRP) should be carried out to aid diagnosis.^{321,323}

In the presence of biochemical evidence of inflammation, the lower limit of ferritin consistent with normal iron stores should therefore be increased to 100 μ g/L, and hypoferraemia should be considered likely if TfS is <16% and serum ferritin is between 30 and 100 g/L. ACD is likely if serum ferritin is >100 μ /L and TfS is <16%. ^{321,323,328}

If available, the determination of sTfR (high in iron deficiency, normal or low in ACD) can help to make a correct diagnosis. ³²⁸ The haemoglobin concentration in reticulocytes has been suggested as a more exact indicator of iron stores in the context of inflammation, and could also be useful in monitoring response to therapy, although direct experience in IBD is limited. ^{323,329} The main message for the clinician is that the evaluation of anaemia in any given patient is always incomplete if the inflammatory status is not clearly defined.

11.9.3. Treatment of anaemia and iron deficiency

Statement 110

Treatment should be considered for all patients with a haemoglobin level below normal. The approach to treatment depends mainly on symptoms, the severity of anaemia and aetiology [EL4, RG D]

Chronic inflammation is frequently a key issue leading to the development of anaemia in patients with UC, and the likelihood of anaemia increases with the severity of the colitis.³¹⁶ Treating the underlying UC is therefore the first step in the treatment of anaemia. However, this alone is rarely sufficient to normalise haemoglobin levels and in real clinical practice there is clear evidence that anaemia is often undertreated.^{315,321}

As previously stated, anaemia has a profound effect on the quality of life. Normalisation of the haemoglobin level is therefore an objective and auditable goal of the treatment of UC. ^{316,321} In clinical practice, recurrence of anaemia is common (>50% after 1 year), and is often indicative of ongoing intestinal inflammation. ³³⁰ Long-term monitoring of patients successfully treated for anaemia appears warranted in order to detect and treat those with recurrent anaemia. Therefore UC patients in remission, and those with mild disease, should be monitored every 12 and 6 months respectively. ³²¹ Vitamin B₁₂ and folate levels should be checked at least annually, or if macrocytosis is present. ³²¹

Statement 11P

Iron supplementation should be initiated when iron deficiency anaemia is present [EL1, RG A] and

considered when there is iron deficiency without anaemia [EL4, RG D]. Intravenous iron is more effective and better tolerated than oral iron supplements [EL1, RG A]. Absolute indications for intravenous iron include severe anaemia (haemoglobin <10.0 g/dL), and intolerance or inadequate response to oral iron [EL1a, RG A]. Intravenous iron should be considered in combination with an erythropoietic agent in selected cases where a rapid response is required [EL5, RG D]

If anaemia is present and iron deficiency is proven, iron supplementation should be commenced.³³¹ In cases of iron deficiency without anaemia, an individualised approach is required. The main goal of therapy for IDA is to supply sufficient iron to increase haemoglobin levels by >2 g/dL or increase them to normal values within 4 weeks, to replenish iron stores (transferrin saturation >30%), to relieve anaemia-related symptoms, and to improve quality of life. Transferrin saturation levels >50% and ferritin levels >800 g/L are considered toxic and should be avoided.³²¹

In current practice, the Ganzoni Formula (iron deficit [mg]=body weight [kg]×(target Hb-actual Hb [g/dL]× 2.4)+stored iron (500 mg)) is used to calculate individual iron requirement.³³² However, this formula is inconvenient, error-prone, inconsistently used in clinical practice, and almost certainly underestimates iron requirements in IBD.³³³

Iron supplementation can be administered orally, intramuscularly or intravenously. The choice of supplementation method is determined by the symptoms, aetiology and severity of the condition, the dynamics of the haemoglobin decrease, co-morbidities and risks of therapy.^{321,323} For many years, oral iron supplementation has been the preferred therapy. The use of intravenous iron preparations has been considered a last resort due to safety concerns. $^{\rm 334}$ Some patients may respond to oral iron. A very detailed observational study has demonstrated that patients with mild anaemia (Hb > 10 g/dL) can be adequately treated according to current guidelines³²¹ with 100 mg/day iron sulphate.³³⁵ However, as more than 90% of ingested iron remains unabsorbed, oral iron preparations frequently lead to the occurrence of gastrointestinal adverse effects, including nausea, flatulence, diarrhoea and gastric erosion. Moreover, animal and human studies indicate that the generation of reactive oxygen species (Fenton reaction) by non-absorbed iron can potentially lead to the exacerbation of IBD. 335-339 On the other hand, intramuscular iron supplementation should be avoided, 323 since there is no clear clinical evidence demonstrating it to be less toxic or more effective than oral or intravenous iron.

In recent years, several safe IV iron preparations have become available and have become the standard of care for iron replacement in some circumstances in the fields of nephrology and oncology.^{334,340,341}

Despite a number of observational and controlled studies in UC and CD demonstrating that IV iron is not only clinically effective but also safe, gastroenterologists still seem hesitant to administer iron intravenously.³²⁸ Several non-randomised³²¹ and randomised studies^{342–344} have shown that IV iron is at least

as effective as oral iron, delivers faster response rates, and is safer in all but a very few patients who may experience side-effects. Intravenous iron therapy is advisable in the following cases: for iron-deficient patients who are intolerant or unresponsive to oral iron supplementation (i.e., those demonstrating an insufficient increase in serum iron parameters within the first 2 weeks of treatment); for patients with severe anaemia (haemoglobin level <10 g/dL (100 g/L)); for patients with pronounced disease activity; and for patients who are being treated with erythropoiesis-stimulating agents.³²³

Statement 11Q

Erythropoietic therapy should be considered, when anaemia does not improve in spite of intravenous iron therapy and control of inflammation [EL 2, RG B]. To optimise the effect of erythropoietic agents treatment should be combined with intravenous iron supplementation [EL 2, RGB]

In some patients, treatment of the underlying IBD in conjunction with iron, folic acid and vitamin B₁₂ supplementation is insufficient to correct anaemia. In such cases, treatment with erythropoiesis-stimulating agents (ESA) is a valid option.³⁴⁵ A randomised clinical trial demonstrated that erythropoietin combined with IV iron was effective in correcting anaemia in most patients with IBD, which has been confirmed in other studies.^{314,345,346} There are limited data on the exact dose and drug to be used, and in this rapidly changing field, local expertise from haematologists or nephrologists can be helpful.³⁴⁵ However, individual dosage and therapeutic success are critically dependent not only on the availability of sufficient iron, but also on the level of inflammation activity. Increased erythropoiesis requires additional iron for the production of haem; iron supply is regarded as optimal when the transferrin saturation is calculated to be 30-40% and the serum ferritin concentration amounts to 200-500 mcg/L.^{321,323} Therapy with erythropoiesis-stimulating agents should therefore always be combined with intravenous iron administration, as functional iron deficiency can essentially always be expected. 321,323 It should be kept in mind that the use of ESA is a risk factor for thrombosis, an otherwise common complication in IBD and particularly in UC. Extensive experience in oncology and nephrology^{347,348} suggests that the therapeutic goal with ESA should therefore be a haemoglobin of 11-13 g/dL. It is not clear whether the same goal can be applied to treatment of anaemia in patients with IBD.

Statement 11R

Blood transfusion should be restricted to very special clinical situations, such as acute severe anaemia with hemodynamic instability, severe anaemia-related weakness and fatigue and/or failure of all other treatments [EL 5 RG D] Red blood cell (RBC) transfusion was rather frequently used in the past. However, even though infectious risks have been greatly reduced, ³⁴⁹ RBC transfusions are still associated with increased risks of venous and arterial thrombotic events, ³⁵⁰ acute and delayed transfusion reactions, and transfusion-induced immunomodulation. ^{317,349,351} Furthermore, red blood cells are an expensive and scarce resource. ³⁵² Therefore, the use of RBC transfusion should be limited only to certain specific situations: acute anaemia with haemodynamic instability, severe anaemia-related fatigue, and/or failure of other treatments.

Acknowledgements

We are particularly grateful to Mrs. Sylke Weidmann and Anna Saelter, Frankfurt for their secretarial assistance and to Mrs Julia Gabriel and Nicole Eichinger from the ECCO office for substantial contribution to coordinating and assimilating the Consensus. We are grateful to all those who expressed an interest in and commitment to the ECCO Consensus process (standard procedures on www.ecco-ibd.eu).

Members of working parties for the update 2011/2012:

Pouchitis

Paolo Gionchetti (IT), Chair Francisco Portela (PT) Herbert Tilg (AT)

Surveillance for colorectal cancer in UC

Laurent Beaugerie (FR) Bernd Bokemeyer (DE), Chair Bas Oldenburg (NL) Julian Panes (ES)

Psychosomatics

Winfried Häusler (DE) Gabriele Moser (AT), Chair Gerhard Rogler (CH)

Extraintestinal manifestation of UC and anaemia

Silvio Danese (IT), Chair Fernando Gomollon (ES) Klaus Herrlinger (DE) Jürgen Michael Stein (DE)

The contributors to the consensus were the following:

- M. Allez, Hôpital Saint-Louis, Paris, France
- L. Beaugerie, Hôpital Saint-Antoine, Paris, France
- B. Bokemeyer, Gastroenterologische Gemeinschaftspraxis, Minden, Germany
- Y. Chowers, Rambam Health Care Center, Haifa, Israel
- J.-F. Colombel, Hospital Huriez, Lille, France
- S. Danese, Istituto Clinico Humanitas, Rozanno, Milan, Italy G. D'Haens, Academic Medical Centre, Amsterdam, The Netherlands
- A. D'Hoore, University Hospital Gasthuisberg, Leuven, Belgium
- A. Dignass, Agaplesion Markus Krankenhaus, Frankfurt, Germany
- R. Eliakim, Sheba Medical Center, Tel Hashomer, Israel
- P. Gionchetti, Universita di Bologna, Bologna, Italy

F. Gomollón Garcia, Hospital Clinico Universitario, Zaragoza Spain,

W. Häuser, Klinikum Saarbrücken, Saarbrücken Germany K. Herrlinger, Asklepios Klinik Nord – Heidberg, Hamburg, Germany

J. Lindsay, Barts and the London NHS Trust, London, United Kingdom

C. Maaser, Klinikum Lüneburg, Lüneburg, Germany

- F. Magro, Sao Joao Hospital, Porto, Portugal
- G. Mantzaris, Evangelismos Hospital, Athens, Greece
- G. Moser, University Hospital Vienna, Vienna, Austria
- G. Novacek, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria

B. Oldenburg, University Medical Centre UMC Utrecht, Utrecht, The Netherlands

T. Øresland, Akershus University Hospital, Lorenskog, Norway

J. Panes, Hospital Clinic Barcelona, Barcelona, Spain

- F. Portela, Coimbra University Hospital, Coimbra, Portugal
- W. Reinisch, University Hospital Vienna, Vienna, Austria
- G. Rogler, University Hospital Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

M. Sans, Centro Medico Teknon, Barcelona, Spain

E. Stange, Robert Bosch Krankenhaus, Stuttgart, Germany

J. M. Stein, Crohn Colitis Center, Frankfurt, Germany

A. Sturm, Krankenhaus Waldfriede, Berlin, Germany

H. Tilg, Bezirkskrankenhaus Hall in Tirol, Hall in Tirol, Austria

S. Travis, John Radcliffe Hospital, Oxford, United Kingdom G. van Assche, University Hospital Gasthuisberg, Leuven,

Belgium S. Vermeire, University Hospital Gasthuisberg, Leuven, Belgium

A. Windsor, University College London Hospital, London, United Kingdom

The Contributors to the consensus meeting per country were:

Austria: Moser, Novacek, Reinisch, Tilg

Belgium: D'Haens, D'Hoore, Franchimont, van Assche, Vermeire Bulgaria: Kotzev, Spassova Croatia: Cukovic Cavka, Vucelic Czech Republic: Bortlik, Douda Denmark: Dahlerup, Kjeldsen Finland: Färkkilä France: Allez, Beaugerie, Carbonnel, Colombel Germany: Bokemeyer, Dignass, Häuser, Herrlinger, Maaser, Stange, Stein, Sturm Greece: Karagiannis, Mantzaris, Tsianos Hungary: Lakatos, Ireland: Egan, O'Morain Israel: Eliakim, Odes Italy: Danese, Gionchetti, Cottone, Kohn Lithuania: Kriukas, Kupcinskas Norway: Berset, Øresland, Jahnsen Poland: Rvdzewska Portugal: Magro, Portela Romania: Cijevschi Prelipcean, Diculescu Russia: Belousova, Potapov Serbia: Tarabar Slovakia: Gregus, Huorka Slovenia: Stabuc

Spain: Casellas Jorda, Gomollón Garcia, Panes, Sans,

Sweden: Hertervig Switzerland: Rogler, Michetti, Seibold The Netherlands: Fidder, Weersma Turkev: Ferhat Celik, Törüner

Ukraine: Dorofevev, Zviagintseva

United Kingdom: Lindsay, Travis, Windsor

References

- 1. Fazio VW, Ziv Y, Church JM, Oakley JR, Lavery IC, Milsom JW, et al. Ileal pouch-anal anastomoses complications and function in 1005 patients. *Ann Surg* 1995;**222**:120–7.
- Sandborn WJ. Pouchitis following ileal pouch-anal anastomosis: definition, pathogenesis, and treatment. *Gastroenterology* 1994;107:1856–60.
- Hurst RD, Molinari M, Chung TP, Rubin M, Michelassi F. Prospective study of the incidence, timing and treatment of pouchitis in 104 consecutive patients after restorative proctocolectomy. *Arch Surg* 1996;131:497–500 [discussion 501–2].
- Meagher AP, Farouk R, Dozois RR, Kelly KA, Pemberton JH. J ileal pouch-anal anastomosis for chronic ulcerative colitis: complications and long-term outcome in 1310 patients. Br J Surg 1998;85:800–3.
- 5. Penna C, Dozois R, Tremaine W, Sandborn W, LaRusso N, Schleck C, et al. Pouchitis after ileal pouch-anal anastomosis for ulcerative colitis occurs with increased frequency in patients with associated primary sclerosing cholangitis. *Gut* 1996;**38**:234–9.
- Simchuk EJ, Thirlby RC. Risk factors and true incidence of pouchitis in patients after ileal pouch-anal anastomoses. World J Surg 2000;24:851–6.
- Shen B, Fazio VW, Remzi FH, Lashner BA. Clinical approach to diseases of ileal pouch-anal anastomosis. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2005;100:2796–807.
- Stahlberg D, Gullberg K, Liljeqvist L, Hellers G, Lofberg R. Pouchitis following pelvic pouch operation for ulcerative colitis. Incidence, cumulative risk, and risk factors. *Dis Colon Rectum* 1996;39:1012–8.
- Svaninger G, Nordgren S, Oresland T, Hulten L. Incidence and characteristics of pouchitis in the Kock continent ileostomy and the pelvic pouch. Scand J Gastroenterol 1993;28:695–700.
- Penna C, Tiret E, Kartheuser A, Hannoun L, Nordlinger B, Parc R. Function of ileal J pouch-anal anastomosis in patients with familial adenomatous polyposis. *Br J Surg* 1993;80:765–7.
- Tjandra JJ, Fazio VW, Church JM, Oakley JR, Milsom JW, Lavery IC. Similar functional results after restorative proctocolectomy in patients with familial adenomatous polyposis and mucosal ulcerative colitis. *Am J Surg* 1993;165:322–5.
- 12. Dozois RR, Goldberg SM, Rothenberger DA, Utsunomiya J, Nicholls RJ, Cohen Z, et al. Restorative proctocolectomy with ileal reservoir. *Int J Colorectal Dis* 1986;1:2–19.
- Marcello PW, Roberts PL, Schoetz Jr DJ, Coller JA, Murray JJ, Veidenheimer MC. Long-term results of the ileoanal pouch procedure. Arch Surg 1993;128:500–3 [discussion 503–4].
- 14. Sagar PM, Pemberton JH. Ileo-anal pouch function and dysfunction. *Dig Dis* 1997;15:172–88.
- 15. Shen B, Achkar JP, Lashner BA, Ormsby AH, Remzi FH, Bevins CL, et al. Endoscopic and histologic evaluation together with symptom assessment are required to diagnose pouchitis. *Gastroenterology* 2001;**121**:261–7.
- 16. Shen B, Lashner BA, Bennett AE, Remzi FH, Brzezinski A, Achkar JP, et al. Treatment of rectal cuff inflammation (cuffitis) in patients with ulcerative colitis following restorative proctocolectomy and ileal pouch-anal anastomosis. Am J Gastroenterol 2004;99:1527–31.

- 17. Tytgat GN, van Deventer SJ. Pouchitis. Int J Colorectal Dis 1988;3:226–8.
- Pemberton JH. The problem with pouchitis. *Gastroenterology* 1993;104:1209–11.
- Shepherd NA, Hulten L, Tytgat GN, Nicholls RJ, Nasmyth DG, Hill MJ, et al. Pouchitis. *Int J Colorectal Dis* 1989;4:205–29.
- Shen B, Achkar JP, Lashner BA, Ormsby AH, Brzezinski A, Soffer EE, et al. Irritable pouch syndrome: a new category of diagnosis for symptomatic patients with ileal pouch-anal anastomosis. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2002;**97**:972–7.
- Pardi DS, Shen B. Endoscopy in the management of patients after ileal pouch surgery for ulcerative colitis. *Endoscopy* 2008;40:529–33.
- Moskowitz RL, Shepherd NA, Nicholls RJ. An assessment of inflammation in the reservoir after restorative proctocolectomy with ileoanal ileal reservoir. *Int J Colorectal Dis* 1986;1:167–74.
- Shepherd NA, Jass JR, Duval I, Moskowitz RL, Nicholls RJ, Morson BC. Restorative proctocolectomy with ileal reservoir: pathological and histochemical study of mucosal biopsy specimens. J Clin Pathol 1987;40:601–7.
- Setti Carraro PG, Talbot IC, Nicholls JR. Patterns of distribution of endoscopic and histological changes in the ileal reservoir after restorative proctocolectomy for ulcerative colitis. A long-term follow-up study. *Int J Colorectal Dis* 1998;13:103–7.
- Shepherd NA, Healey CJ, Warren BF, Richman PI, Thomson WH, Wilkinson SP. Distribution of mucosal pathology and an assessment of colonic phenotypic change in the pelvic ileal reservoir. *Gut* 1993;34:101–5.
- Ruseler-van Embden JG, Schouten WR, van Lieshout LM. Pouchitis: result of microbial imbalance? Gut 1994;35:658–64.
- Biancone L, Palmieri G, Lombardi A, Colantoni A, Tonelli F, Das KM, et al. Tropomyosin expression in the ileal pouch: a relationship with the development of pouchitis in ulcerative colitis. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2003;**98**:2719–26.
- Pardi DS, Sandborn WJ. Systematic review: the management of pouchitis. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2006;23:1087–96.
- Shen B, Bennett AE, Fazio VW, Sherman KK, Sun J, Remzi FH, et al. Collagenous pouchitis. *Dig Liver Dis* 2006;38:704–9.
- Shen B, Goldblum JR, Hull TL, Remzi FH, Bennett AE, Fazio VW. Clostridium difficile-associated pouchitis. *Dig Dis Sci* 2006;51:2361–4.
- Bell AJ, Price AB, Forbes A, Ciclitira PJ, Groves C, Nicholls RJ. Pre-pouch ileitis: a disease of the ileum in ulcerative colitis after restorative proctocolectomy. *Colorectal Dis* 2006;8:402–10.
- Shen B, Fazio VW, Remzi FH, Bennett AE, Lopez R, Lavery IC, et al. Effect of withdrawal of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug use on ileal pouch disorders. *Dig Dis Sci* 2007;52:3321–8.
- Landy J, Al-Hassi HO, McLaughlin SD, Knight SC, Ciclitira PJ, Nicholls RJ, et al. Etiology of pouchitis. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2012;18:1146–55.
- Schmidt CM, Lazenby AJ, Hendrickson RJ, Sitzmann JV. Preoperative terminal ileal and colonic resection histopathology predicts risk of pouchitis in patients after ileoanal pullthrough procedure. Ann Surg 1998;227:654–62 [discussion 663–5].
- Lohmuller JL, Pemberton JH, Dozois RR, Ilstrup D, van Heerden J. Pouchitis and extraintestinal manifestations of inflammatory bowel disease after ileal pouch-anal anastomosis. *Ann Surg* 1990;211:622–7 [discussion 627–9].
- Merrett MN, Mortensen N, Kettlewell M, Jewell DO. Smoking may prevent pouchitis in patients with restorative proctocolectomy for ulcerative colitis. *Gut* 1996;38:362–4.
- Achkar JP, Al-Haddad M, Lashner B, Remzi FH, Brzezinski A, Shen B, et al. Differentiating risk factors for acute and chronic pouchitis. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2005;3:60–6.
- Carter MJ, Di Giovine FS, Cox A, Goodfellow P, Jones S, Shorthouse AJ, et al. The interleukin 1 receptor antagonist gene allele 2 as a predictor of pouchitis following colectomy

and IPAA in ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology* 2001;121: 805–11.

- Fleshner PR, Vasiliauskas EA, Kam LY, Fleshner NE, Gaiennie J, Abreu-Martin MT, et al. High level perinuclear antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibody (pANCA) in ulcerative colitis patients before colectomy predicts the development of chronic pouchitis after ileal pouch-anal anastomosis. *Gut* 2001;49: 671–7.
- 40. Shen B, Fazio VW, Remzi FH, Brzezinski A, Bennett AE, Lopez R, et al. Risk factors for diseases of ileal pouch-anal anastomosis after restorative proctocolectomy for ulcerative colitis. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2006;4:81–9 [quiz 2–3].
- 41. Shen B, Sanmiguel C, Bennett AE, et al. Irritable pouch syndrome is characterized by visceral hypersensitivity. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2010.
- 42. Lipman JM, Kiran RP, Shen B, Remzi F, Fazio VW. Perioperative factors during ileal pouch-anal anastomosis predict pouchitis. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2011;54:311–7.
- Sandborn W. Pouchitis: risk factors, frequency, natural history, classification and public health perspective. Trends in Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Lancaster, UK: Kluwer Academic Publishers; 1997. p. 51–63.
- Pardi DS, D'Haens G, Shen B, Campbell S, Gionchetti P. Clinical guidelines for the management of pouchitis. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2009;15:1424–31.
- Sandborn WJ, Tremaine WJ, Batts KP, Pemberton JH, Phillips SF. Pouchitis after ileal pouch-anal anastomosis: a Pouchitis Disease Activity Index. *Mayo Clin Proc* 1994;69:409–15.
- 46. Evgenikos N, Bartolo DC, Hamer-Hodges DW, Ghosh S. Comparison of the Moskowitz criteria and the pouchitis disease activity index (PDAI) for diagnosis of ileoanal pouch inflammation. *Colorectal Dis* 2001;3:161–4.
- Heuschen UA, Allemeyer EH, Hinz U, Autschbach F, Uehlein T, Herfarth C, et al. Diagnosing pouchitis: comparative validation of two scoring systems in routine follow-up. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2002;45:776–86 [discussion 786–8].
- Sandborn W, McLeod R, Jewell D. Pharmacotherapy for inducing and maintaining remission in pouchitis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2000:CD001176.
- 49. Madden MV, McIntyre AS, Nicholls RJ. Double-blind crossover trial of metronidazole versus placebo in chronic unremitting pouchitis. *Dig Dis Sci* 1994;**39**:1193–6.
- Shen B, Achkar JP, Lashner BA, Ormsby AH, Remzi FH, Brzezinski A, et al. A randomized clinical trial of ciprofloxacin and metronidazole to treat acute pouchitis. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2001;7:301–5.
- 51. Holubar SD, Cima RR, Sandborn WJ, Pardi DS. Treatment and prevention of pouchitis after ileal-pouch anal anastomosis for ulcerative colitis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2010;6: CD001176.
- Shen B, Fazio VW, Remzi FH, Bennett AE, Lopez R, Brzezinski A, et al. Combined ciprofloxacin and tinidazole therapy in the treatment of chronic refractory pouchitis. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2007;50:498–508.
- Gionchetti P, Rizzello F, Venturi A, Ugolini F, Rossi M, Brigidi P, et al. Antibiotic combination therapy in patients with chronic, treatment-resistant pouchitis. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 1999;13: 713–8.
- Abdelrazeq AS, Kelly SM, Lund JN, Leveson SH. Rifaximinciprofloxacin combination therapy is effective in chronic active refractory pouchitis. *Colorectal Dis* 2005;7:182–6.
- 55. Mimura T, Rizzello F, Helwig U, Poggioli G, Schreiber S, Talbot IC, et al. Four-week open-label trial of metronidazole and ciprofloxacin for the treatment of recurrent or refractory pouchitis. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2002;16:909–17.
- Gionchetti P, Rizzello F, Poggioli G, Pierangeli F, Laureti S, Morselli C, et al. Oral budesonide in the treatment of chronic refractory pouchitis. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2007;25:1231–6.

- 57. Navaneethan U, Venkatesh PG, Bennett AE, Patel V, Hammel J, Kiran RP, et al. Impact of budesonide on liver function tests and gut inflammation in patients with primary sclerosing cholangitis and ileal pouch anal anastomosis. *J Crohns Colitis* 2012;6:536–42.
- Sambuelli A, Boerr L, Negreira S, Gil A, Camartino G, Huernos S, et al. Budesonide enema in pouchitis–a double-blind, doubledummy, controlled trial. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2002;16:27–34.
- Winter TA, Dalton HR, Merrett MN, Campbell A, Jewell DP. Cyclosporin A retention enemas in refractory distal ulcerative colitis and 'pouchitis'. Scand J Gastroenterol 1993;28:701–4.
- de Silva HJ, Ireland A, Kettlewell M, Mortensen N, Jewell DP. Short-chain fatty acid irrigation in severe pouchitis. N Engl J Med 1989;321:1416–7.
- 61. Tremaine W, Sandborn W, Phillips SF, et al. Short-chain fatty acid (SCFA) enema therapy for treatment-resistant pouchitis following ileal pouch-anal anastomosis (IPAA) for ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology* 1999;**106**:A784.
- Wischmeyer P, Pemberton JH, Phillips SF. Chronic pouchitis after ileal pouch-anal anastomosis: responses to butyrate and glutamine suppositories in a pilot study. *Mayo Clin Proc* 1993;68: 978–81.
- 63. Ferrante M, D'Haens G, Dewit O, et al. Efficacy of infliximab in refractory pouchitis and Crohn's disease-related complications of the pouch: a Belgian case series. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2010;16: 243–9.
- 64. Calabrese C, Gionchetti P, Rizzello F, et al. Short-term treatment with infliximab in chronic refractory pouchitis and ileitis. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2008;**27**:759–64.
- 65. Barreiro-de Acosta M, Garcia-Bosch O, Souto R, Manosa M, Miranda J, Garcia-Sanchez V, et al. Efficacy of infliximab rescue therapy in patients with chronic refractory pouchitis: a multicenter study. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2012;**18**:812–7.
- 66. Barreiro-de Acosta M, Garcia-Bosch O, Gordillo J, Manosa M, Menchen L, Souto R, et al. Efficacy of adalimumab rescue therapy in patients with chronic refractory pouchitis previously treated with infliximab: a case series. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2012;24:756–8.
- 67. Miner P, Wedel M, Bane B, Bradley J. An enema formulation of alicaforsen, an antisense inhibitor of intercellular adhesion molecule-1, in the treatment of chronic, unremitting pouchitis. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2004;**19**:281–6.
- Gionchetti P, Rizzello F, Venturi A, Brigidi P, Matteuzzi D, Bazzocchi G, et al. Oral bacteriotherapy as maintenance treatment in patients with chronic pouchitis: a double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Gastroenterology* 2000;119:305–9.
- 69. Mimura T, Rizzello F, Helwig U, Poggioli G, Schreiber S, Talbot IC, et al. Once daily high dose probiotic therapy (VSL#3) for maintaining remission in recurrent or refractory pouchitis. *Gut* 2004;**53**:108–14.
- Gionchetti P, Rizzello F, Helwig U, Venturi A, Lammers KM, Brigidi P, et al. Prophylaxis of pouchitis onset with probiotic therapy: a double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Gastroenterology* 2003;**124**:1202–9.
- Kuhbacher T, Ott SJ, Helwig U, Mimura T, Rizzello F, Kleessen B, et al. Bacterial and fungal microbiota in relation to probiotic therapy (VSL#3) in pouchitis. *Gut* 2006;55:833–41.
- 72. Shen B, Fazio VW, Remzi FH, Delaney CP, Bennett AE, Achkar JP, et al. Comprehensive evaluation of inflammatory and noninflammatory sequelae of ileal pouch-anal anastomoses. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2005;**100**:93–101.
- Eaden JA, Abrams KR, Mayberry JF. The risk of colorectal cancer in ulcerative colitis: a meta-analysis. *Gut* 2001;48:526–35.
- 74. Greenstein AJ, Sachar DB, Smith H, Janowitz HD, Aufses Jr AH. A comparison of cancer risk in Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis. *Cancer* 1981;48:2742–5.
- 75. Baars JE, Looman CW, Steyerberg EW, Beukers R, Tan AC, Weusten BL, et al. The risk of inflammatory bowel disease-

related colorectal carcinoma is limited: results from a nationwide nested case–control study. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2010;**106**: 319–28.

- Winther KV, Jess T, Langholz E, Munkholm P, Binder V. Long-term risk of cancer in ulcerative colitis: a population-based cohort study from Copenhagen County. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2004;2:1088–95.
- 77. Jess T, Loftus Jr EV, Velayos FS, Harmsen WS, Zinsmeister AR, Smyrk TC, et al. Risk of intestinal cancer in inflammatory bowel disease: a population-based study from olmsted county, Minnesota. *Gastroenterology* 2006;**130**:1039–46.
- Rutter MD, Saunders BP, Wilkinson KH, Rumbles S, Schofield G, Kamm MA, et al. Thirty-year analysis of a colonoscopic surveillance program for neoplasia in ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology* 2006;**130**:1030–8.
- 79. Lutgens MW, Vleggaar FP, Schipper ME, Stokkers PC, van der Woude CJ, Hommes DW, et al. High frequency of early colorectal cancer in inflammatory bowel disease. *Gut* 2008;**57**:1246–51.
- Mathy C, Schneider K, Chen YY, Varma M, Terdiman JP, Mahadevan U. Gross versus microscopic pancolitis and the occurrence of neoplasia in ulcerative colitis. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2003;9:351–5.
- Claessen MM, Vleggaar FP, Tytgat KM, Siersema PD, van Buuren HR. High lifetime risk of cancer in primary sclerosing cholangitis. J Hepatol 2009;50:158–64.
- Bergeron V, Vienne A, Sokol H, Seksik P, Nion-Larmurier I, Ruskone-Fourmestraux A, et al. Risk factors for neoplasia in inflammatory bowel disease patients with pancolitis. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2010, http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ajg.2010.248 [advance online publication, 15 June 2010].
- Jayaram H, Satsangi J, Chapman RW. Increased colorectal neoplasia in chronic ulcerative colitis complicated by primary sclerosing cholangitis: fact or fiction? *Gut* 2001;48:430–4.
- Rutter M, Saunders B, Wilkinson K, Rumbles S, Schofield G, Kamm M, et al. Severity of inflammation is a risk factor for colorectal neoplasia in ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology* 2004;**126**:451–9.
- Gupta RB, Harpaz N, Itzkowitz S, Hossain S, Matula S, Kornbluth A, et al. Histologic inflammation is a risk factor for progression to colorectal neoplasia in ulcerative colitis: a cohort study. *Gastroenterology* 2007;133:1099–105 [quiz 1340–1].
- 86. Jess T, Loftus Jr EV, Velayos FS, Winther KV, Tremaine WJ, Zinsmeister AR, et al. Risk factors for colorectal neoplasia in inflammatory bowel disease: a nested case–control study from Copenhagen county, Denmark and Olmsted county, Minnesota. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2007;102:829–36.
- 87. Velayos FS, Loftus Jr EV, Jess T, Harmsen WS, Bida J, Zinsmeister AR, et al. Predictive and protective factors associated with colorectal cancer in ulcerative colitis: a case-control study. *Gastroenterology* 2006;**130**:1941–9.
- Gyde SN, Prior P, Allan RN, Stevens A, Jewell DP, Truelove SC, et al. Colorectal cancer in ulcerative colitis: a cohort study of primary referrals from three centres. *Gut* 1988;29:206–17.
- Nuako KW, Ahlquist DA, Mahoney DW, Schaid DJ, Siems DM, Lindor NM. Familial predisposition for colorectal cancer in chronic ulcerative colitis: a case–control study. *Gastroenterology* 1998;115:1079–83.
- Jonsson B, Ahsgren L, Andersson LO, Stenling R, Rutegard J. Colorectal cancer surveillance in patients with ulcerative colitis. *Br J Surg* 1994;81:689–91.
- 91. Nugent FW, Haggitt RC, Gilpin PA. Cancer surveillance in ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology* 1991;100:1241-8.
- Lofberg R, Brostrom O, Karlen P, Tribukait B, Ost A. Colonoscopic surveillance in long-standing total ulcerative colitis—a 15-year follow-up study. *Gastroenterology* 1990;99:1021–31.
- Eaden J, Abrams K, Ekbom A, Jackson E, Mayberry J. Colorectal cancer prevention in ulcerative colitis: a case– control study. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2000;14:145–53.

27

- Rosenstock E, Farmer RG, Petras R, Sivak Jr MV, Rankin GB, Sullivan BH. Surveillance for colonic carcinoma in ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology* 1985;89:1342–6.
- Giardiello FMGA, Baylewss TM, Goodman SN, Yardley JH. Colorectal cancer in ulcerative colitis: survival in patients with and without colorectal cancer symptoms. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 1996;2:6–10.
- Karlen P, Kornfeld D, Brostrom O, Lofberg R, Persson PG, Ekbom A. Is colonoscopic surveillance reducing colorectal cancer mortality in ulcerative colitis? A population based case control study. *Gut* 1998;42:711–4.
- 97. Lashner BA, Turner BC, Bostwick DG, Frank PH, Hanauer SB. Dysplasia and cancer complicating strictures in ulcerative colitis. *Dig Dis Sci* 1990;**35**:349–52.
- Choi PM, Nugent FW, Schoetz Jr DJ, Silverman ML, Haggitt RC. Colonoscopic surveillance reduces mortality from colorectal cancer in ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology* 1993;105:418–24.
- Collins PD, Mpofu C, Watson AJ, Rhodes JM. Strategies for detecting colon cancer and/or dysplasia in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2006:CD000279.
- Lutgens MW, Oldenburg B, Siersema PD, van Bodegraven AA, Dijkstra G, Hommes DW, et al. Colonoscopic surveillance improves survival after colorectal cancer diagnosis in inflammatory bowel disease. Br J Cancer 2009;101:1671–5.
- 101. Lim CH, Dixon MF, Vail A, Forman D, Lynch DA, Axon AT. Ten year follow up of ulcerative colitis patients with and without low grade dysplasia. *Gut* 2003;**52**:1127–32.
- Connell WR, Lennard-Jones JE, Williams CB, Talbot IC, Price AB, Wilkinson KH. Factors affecting the outcome of endoscopic surveillance for cancer in ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology* 1994;107:934–44.
- 103. Soetikno RM, Lin OS, Heidenreich PA, Young HS, Blackstone MO. Increased risk of colorectal neoplasia in patients with primary sclerosing cholangitis and ulcerative colitis: a meta-analysis. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2002;**56**:48–54.
- 104. Melville DM, Jass JR, Morson BC, Pollock DJ, Richman PI, Shepherd NA, et al. Observer study of the grading of dysplasia in ulcerative colitis: comparison with clinical outcome. *Hum Pathol* 1989;20:1008–14.
- 105. Claessen MM, Lutgens MW, van Buuren HR, Oldenburg B, Stokkers PC, van der Woude CJ, et al. More right-sided IBD-associated colorectal cancer in patients with primary sclerosing cholangitis. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2009;15:1331–6.
- Scarpa M, van Koperen PJ, Ubbink DT, Hommes DW, Ten Kate FJW, Bemelman WA. Systematic review of dysplasia after restorative proctocolectomy for ulcerative colitis. Br J Surg 2007;94:534–45.
- 107. Thomas-Gibson S, Rogers P, Cooper S, Man R, Rutter MD, Suzuki N, et al. Judgement of the quality of bowel preparation at screening flexible sigmoidoscopy is associated with variability in adenoma detection rates. *Endoscopy* 2006;38: 456-60.
- 108. Toruner M, Harewood GC, Loftus Jr EV, Sandborn WJ, Tremaine WJ, Faubion WA, et al. Endoscopic factors in the diagnosis of colorectal dysplasia in chronic inflammatory bowel disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2005;11:428–34.
- 109. Rubin DT, Rothe JA, Hetzel JT, Cohen RD, Hanauer SB. Are dysplasia and colorectal cancer endoscopically visible in patients with ulcerative colitis? *Gastrointest Endosc* 2007;65: 998–1004.
- Rutter MD, Saunders BP, Wilkinson KH, Rumbles S, Schofield G, Kamm MA, et al. Cancer surveillance in longstanding ulcerative colitis: endoscopic appearances help predict cancer risk. *Gut* 2004;53:1813–6.
- 111. Rutter MD, Saunders BP, Wilkinson KH, Kamm MA, Williams CB, Forbes A. Most dysplasia in ulcerative colitis is visible at colonoscopy. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2004;**60**:334–9.

- 112. Rubin CE, Haggitt RC, Burmer GC, Brentnall TA, Stevens AC, Levine DS, et al. DNA aneuploidy in colonic biopsies predicts future development of dysplasia in ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology* 1992;103:1611–20.
- 113. Awais D, Siegel CA, Higgins PD. Modelling dysplasia detection in ulcerative colitis: clinical implications of surveillance intensity. *Gut* 2009;**58**:1498–503.
- 114. Kaltz B, Bokemeyer B, Hoffmann J, Porschen R, Rogler G, Schmiegel W. Surveillance colonoscopy in ulcerative colitis patients in Germany. *Z Gastroenterol* 2007;**45**:325–31.
- Kottachchi D, Yung D, Marshall JK. Adherence to guidelines for surveillance colonoscopy in patients with ulcerative colitis at a Canadian quaternary care hospital. *Can J Gastroenterol* 2009;23: 613–7.
- 116. van Rijn AF, Fockens P, Siersema PD, Oldenburg B. Adherence to surveillance guidelines for dysplasia and colorectal carcinoma in ulcerative and Crohn's colitis patients in the Netherlands. *World J Gastroenterol* 2009;15:226–30.
- 117. Velayos FS, Liu L, Lewis JD, Allison JE, Flowers N, Hutfless S, et al. Prevalence of colorectal cancer surveillance for ulcerative colitis in an integrated health care delivery system. *Gastroenterology* 2010;**139**:1511–8.
- 118. Kiesslich R, Fritsch J, Holtmann M, Koehler HH, Stolte M, Kanzler S, et al. Methylene blue-aided chromoendoscopy for the detection of intraepithelial neoplasia and colon cancer in ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology* 2003;**124**:880–8.
- 119. Rutter MD, Saunders BP, Schofield G, Forbes A, Price AB, Talbot IC. Pancolonic indigo carmine dye spraying for the detection of dysplasia in ulcerative colitis. *Gut* 2004;**53**: 256–60.
- 120. Dekker E, van den Broek FJ, Reitsma JB, Hardwick JC, Offerhaus GJ, van Deventer SJ, et al. Narrow-band imaging compared with conventional colonoscopy for the detection of dysplasia in patients with longstanding ulcerative colitis. *Endoscopy* 2007;**39**:216–21.
- 121. Hurlstone DP, Sanders DS, Lobo AJ, McAlindon ME, Cross SS. Indigo carmine-assisted high-magnification chromoscopic colonoscopy for the detection and characterisation of intraepithelial neoplasia in ulcerative colitis: a prospective evaluation. *Endoscopy* 2005;**37**:1186–92.
- 122. Lashner BA, Provencher KS, Seidner DL, Knesebeck A, Brzezinski A. The effect of folic acid supplementation on the risk for cancer or dysplasia in ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology* 1997;112:29–32.
- 123. Lindberg BU, Broome U, Persson B. Proximal colorectal dysplasia or cancer in ulcerative colitis. The impact of primary sclerosing cholangitis and sulfasalazine: results from a 20-year surveillance study. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2001;44:77–85.
- 124. Moody GA, Jayanthi V, Probert CS, Mac Kay H, Mayberry JF. Long-term therapy with sulphasalazine protects against colorectal cancer in ulcerative colitis: a retrospective study of colorectal cancer risk and compliance with treatment in Leicestershire. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 1996;8: 1179–83.
- 125. Pinczowski D, Ekbom A, Baron J, Yuen J, Adami HO. Risk factors for colorectal cancer in patients with ulcerative colitis: a case–control study. *Gastroenterology* 1994;**107**:117–20.
- 126. Bernstein CN, Blanchard JF, Metge C, Yogendran M. Does the use of 5-aminosalicylates in inflammatory bowel disease prevent the development of colorectal cancer? *Am J Gastroenterol* 2003;**98**: 2784–8.
- 127. Rubin DT, LoSavio A, Yadron N, Huo D, Hanauer SB. Aminosalicylate therapy in the prevention of dysplasia and colorectal cancer in ulcerative colitis. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2006;4:1346–50.
- 128. van Staa TP, Card T, Logan RF, Leufkens HG. 5-Aminosalicylate use and colorectal cancer risk in inflammatory bowel disease: a large epidemiological study. *Gut* 2005;**54**:1573–8.

- 129. Terdiman JP, Steinbuch M, Blumentals WA, Ullman TA, Rubin DT. 5-Aminosalicylic acid therapy and the risk of colorectal cancer among patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2007;13:367–71.
- 130. Bernstein CN, Nugent Z, Blanchard JF. 5-Aminosalicylate is not chemoprophylactic for colorectal cancer in IBD: a population based study. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2011;**106**:731–6.
- 131. Biancone L, Michetti P, Travis SP, Escher J, Moser G, Forbes A, et al. ECCO f. European evidence based consensus on the management of ulcerative colitis: special situations. *J Crohns Colitis* 2008;**2**:63–92.
- 132. Farraye FA, Odze RD, Eaden J, Itzkowitz SH, McCabe RP, Dassopoulos T, et al. AGA medical position statement on the diagnosis and management of colorectal neoplasia in inflammatory bowel disease. *Gastroenterology* 2010;**138**:738–45.
- 133. Cairns SR, Scholefield JH, Steele RJ, Dunlop MG, Thomas HJ, Evans GD, et al. Guidelines for colorectal cancer screening and surveillance in moderate and high risk groups (update from 2002). *Gut* 2010;**59**:666–89.
- 134. Farraye FA, Odze RD, Eaden J, Itzkowitz SH. AGA technical review on the diagnosis and management of colorectal neoplasia in inflammatory bowel disease. *Gastroenterology* 2010;**138**:746–74 [774 e1-4; quiz e12-3].
- 135. Beaugerie L, Seksik P, Bouvier AM, Carbonnel F, Colombel JF, Faivre J, et al. Thiopurine therapy is associated with a three-fold decrease in the incidence of advanced colorectal neoplasia in IBD patients with longstanding extensive colitis: results from the CESAME cohort. *Gastroenterology* 2009;**136**:A-54.
- 136. Itzkowitz SH, Harpaz N. Diagnosis and management of dysplasia in patients with inflammatory bowel diseases. *Gastroenterology* 2004;**126**:1634–48.
- 137. Lyakhovich A, Gasche C. Systematic review: molecular chemoprevention of colorectal malignancy by mesalazine. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2010;**31**:202–9.
- Ullman T, Croog V, Harpaz N, Hossain S, Kornbluth A, Bodian C, et al. Progression to colorectal neoplasia in ulcerative colitis: effect of mesalamine. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2008;6: 1225–30 [quiz 1177].
- 139. Tung BY, Emond MJ, Haggitt RC, Bronner MP, Kimmey MB, Kowdley KV, et al. Ursodiol use is associated with lower prevalence of colonic neoplasia in patients with ulcerative colitis and primary sclerosing cholangitis. *Ann Intern Med* 2001;**134**:89–95.
- 140. Matula S, Croog V, Itzkowitz S, Harpaz N, Bodian C, Hossain S, et al. Chemoprevention of colorectal neoplasia in ulcerative colitis: the effect of 6-mercaptopurine. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2005;3:1015–21.
- 141. Bergeron V, Nion-Larmurier I, Vienne A, Seksik P, Ruskone-Fourmestraux A, Florent C, et al. Azathioprine (AZA) is associated with less histological inflammation of the colon in inactive IBD. *Gastroenterology* 2010;**138**:S-693.
- 142. Beaugerie L, Brousse N, Bouvier AM, Colombel JF, Lemann M, Cosnes J, et al. Lymphoproliferative disorders in patients receiving thiopurines for inflammatory bowel disease: a prospective observational cohort study. *Lancet* 2009;**374**:1617–25.
- 143. Pardi DS, Loftus Jr EV, Kremers WK, Keach J, Lindor KD. Ursodeoxycholic acid as a chemopreventive agent in patients with ulcerative colitis and primary sclerosing cholangitis. *Gastroenterology* 2003;**124**:889–93.
- 144. Odze RD. Adenomas and adenoma-like DALMs in chronic ulcerative colitis: a clinical, pathological, and molecular review. *Am J Gastroenterol* 1999;**94**:1746–50.
- 145. Riddell RH, Goldman H, Ransohoff DF, Appelman HD, Fenoglio CM, Haggitt RC, et al. Dysplasia in inflammatory bowel disease: standardized classification with provisional clinical applications. *Hum Pathol* 1983;14:931–68.
- Goldman H. Significance and detection of dysplasia in chronic colitis. *Cancer* 1996;**78**:2261–3.

- 147. Odze RD, Goldblum J, Noffsinger A, Alsaigh N, Rybicki LA, Fogt F. Interobserver variability in the diagnosis of ulcerative colitisassociated dysplasia by telepathology. *Mod Pathol* 2002;15: 379–86.
- 148. Eaden J, Abrams K, McKay H, Denley H, Mayberry J. Interobserver variation between general and specialist gastrointestinal pathologists when grading dysplasia in ulcerative colitis. *J Pathol* 2001;**194**:152–7.
- 149. Blackstone MO, Riddell RH, Rogers BH, Levin B. Dysplasia-associated lesion or mass (DALM) detected by colonoscopy in long-standing ulcerative colitis: an indication for colectomy. *Gastroenterology* 1981;**80**:366–74.
- 150. Lennard-Jones JE, Melville DM, Morson BC, Ritchie JK, Williams CB. Precancer and cancer in extensive ulcerative colitis: findings among 401 patients over 22 years. *Gut* 1990;31: 800–6.
- 151. Butt JH, Konishi F, Morson BC, Lennard-Jones JE, Ritchie JK. Macroscopic lesions in dysplasia and carcinoma complicating ulcerative colitis. *Dig Dis Sci* 1983;**28**:18–26.
- 152. Vieth M, Behrens H, Stolte M. Sporadic adenoma in ulcerative colitis: endoscopic resection is an adequate treatment. *Gut* 2006;**55**:1151–5.
- 153. Torres C, Antonioli D, Odze RD. Polypoid dysplasia and adenomas in inflammatory bowel disease: a clinical, pathologic, and follow-up study of 89 polyps from 59 patients. *Am J Surg Pathol* 1998;22:275–84.
- 154. Suzuki K, Muto T, Shinozaki M, Yokoyama T, Matsuda K, Masaki T. Differential diagnosis of dysplasia-associated lesion or mass and coincidental adenoma in ulcerative colitis. *Dis Colon Rectum* 1998;41:322–7.
- 155. Odze RD, Farraye FA, Hecht JL, Hornick JL. Long-term follow-up after polypectomy treatment for adenoma-like dysplastic lesions in ulcerative colitis. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2004;**2**:534–41.
- 156. Rubin PH, Friedman S, Harpaz N, Goldstein E, Weiser J, Schiller J, et al. Colonoscopic polypectomy in chronic colitis: conservative management after endoscopic resection of dysplastic polyps. *Gastroenterology* 1999;117:1295–300.
- 157. Friedman S, Odze RD, Farraye FA. Management of neoplastic polyps in inflammatory bowel disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2003;**9**:260–6.
- 158. Hurlstone DP, Sanders DS, Atkinson R, Hunter MD, McAlindon ME, Lobo AJ, et al. Endoscopic mucosal resection for flat neoplasia in chronic ulcerative colitis: can we change the endoscopic management paradigm? *Gut* 2007;**56**:838–46.
- 159. Engelsgjerd M, Farraye FA, Odze RD. Polypectomy may be adequate treatment for adenoma-like dysplastic lesions in chronic ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology* 1999;117:1288–94 [discussion 1488–91].
- 160. Bernstein CN, Shanahan F, Weinstein WM. Are we telling patients the truth about surveillance colonoscopy in ulcerative colitis? *Lancet* 1994;343:71–4.
- 161. Hata K, Watanabe T, Kazama S, Suzuki K, Shinozaki M, Yokoyama T, et al. Earlier surveillance colonoscopy programme improves survival in patients with ulcerative colitis associated colorectal cancer: results of a 23-year surveillance programme in the Japanese population. *Br J Cancer* 2003;**89**: 1232–6.
- 162. Ullman T, Croog V, Harpaz N, Sachar D, Itzkowitz S. Progression of flat low-grade dysplasia to advanced neoplasia in patients with ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology* 2003;125: 1311–9.
- 163. Thomas T, Abrams KA, Robinson RJ, Mayberry JF. Meta-analysis: cancer risk of low-grade dysplasia in chronic ulcerative colitis. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2007;**25**:657–68.
- 164. Ullman TA, Loftus Jr EV, Kakar S, Burgart LJ, Sandborn WJ, Tremaine WJ. The fate of low grade dysplasia in ulcerative colitis. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2002;**97**:922–7.

- 165. Befrits R, Ljung T, Jaramillo E, Rubio C. Low-grade dysplasia in extensive, long-standing inflammatory bowel disease: a follow-up study. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2002;45:615–20.
- 166. Graff LA, Walker JR, Bernstein CN. Depression and anxiety in inflammatory bowel disease: a review of comorbidity and management. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2009;15:1105–18.
- 167. Camara RJ, Ziegler R, Begre S, Schoepfer AM, von Kanel R. The role of psychological stress in inflammatory bowel disease: quality assessment of methods of 18 prospective studies and suggestions for future research. *Digestion* 2009;80:129–39.
- 168. Rampton D. Does stress influence inflammatory bowel disease? The clinical data. *Dig Dis* 2009;**27**(Suppl 1):76–9.
- Maunder RG, Levenstein S. The role of stress in the development and clinical course of inflammatory bowel disease: epidemiological evidence. *Curr Mol Med* 2008;8:247–52.
- Drossman DA. Presidential address: gastrointestinal illness and the biopsychosocial model. *Psychosom Med* 1998;60:258–67.
- 171. Engel GL. The need for a new medical model: a challenge for biomedicine. *Science* 1977;**196**:129–36.
- 172. Kurina LM, Goldacre MJ, Yeates D, Gill LE. Depression and anxiety in people with inflammatory bowel disease. *J Epidemiol Community Health* 2001;**55**:716–20.
- 173. Bernstein CN, Singh S, Graff LA, Walker JR, Miller N, Cheang M. A prospective population-based study of triggers of symptomatic flares in IBD. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2010;**105**:1994–2002.
- 174. Mittermaier C, Dejaco C, Waldhoer T, Oefferlbauer-Ernst A, Miehsler W, Beier M, et al. Impact of depressive mood on relapse in patients with inflammatory bowel disease: a prospective 18-month follow-up study. *Psychosom Med* 2004;**66**:79–84.
- 175. Vidal A, Gomez-Gil E, Sans M, Portella MJ, Salamero M, Pique JM, et al. Life events and inflammatory bowel disease relapse: a prospective study of patients enrolled in remission. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2006;**101**:775–81.
- 176. Mikocka-Walus AA, Turnbull DA, Moulding NT, Wilson IG, Andrews JM, Holtmann GJ. Controversies surrounding the comorbidity of depression and anxiety in inflammatory bowel disease patients: a literature review. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2007; 13:225–34.
- 177. Janke K-H, Klump B, Gregor M, Meisner C, Haeuser W. Determinants of life satisfaction in inflammatory bowel disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2005;11:272–86.
- 178. Boye B, Jahnsen J, Mokleby K, Leganger S, Jantschek G, Jantschek I, et al. The INSPIRE study: are different personality traits related to disease-specific quality of life (IBDQ) in distressed patients with ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease? *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2008;14:680–6.
- 179. Nahon S, Lahmek P, Saas C, Durance C, Olympie A, Lesgourgues B, et al. Socioeconomic and psychological factors associated with nonadherence to treatment in inflammatory bowel disease patients: results of the ISSEO survey. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2010.
- 180. Häuser W, Janke K-H, Klump B, Hinz A. Anxiety and depression in patients with inflammatory bowel disease: comparisons with chronic liver disease patients and the general population. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2011;17:621–32.
- Fuller-Thomson E, Sulman J. Depression and inflammatory bowel disease: findings from two nationally representative Canadian surveys. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2006;12:697–707.
- 182. Hardt J, Muche-Borowski C, Conrad S, Balzer K, Bokemeyer B, Raspe H. Inflammatory bowel diseases as multi-focal disorders: results from a multi-regional survey on bodily and psychosocial problems in IBD patients. *Z Gastroenterol* 2010;48:381–91.
- 183. Simren M, Axelsson J, Gillberg R, Abrahamsson H, Svedlund J, Bjornsson ES. Quality of life in inflammatory bowel disease in remission: the impact of IBS-like symptoms and associated psychological factors. Am J Gastroenterol 2002;97:389–96.
- 184. Pace F, Molteni P, Bollani S, Sarzi-Puttini P, Stockbrugger R, Bianchi Porro G, et al. Inflammatory bowel disease versus irritable bowel syndrome: a hospital-based, case–control study

of disease impact on quality of life. Scand J Gastroenterol 2003;38:1031-8.

- 185. Jones MP, Wessinger S, Crowell MD. Coping strategies and interpersonal support in patients with irritable bowel syndrome and inflammatory bowel disease. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2006;4:474–81.
- 186. Drossman DA, Leserman J, Mitchell CM, Li ZM, Zagami EA, Patrick DL. Health status and health care use in persons with inflammatory bowel disease. A national sample. *Dig Dis Sci* 1991;36:1746–55.
- 187. Sewitch MJ, Abrahamowicz M, Bitton A, Daly D, Wild GE, Cohen A, et al. Psychosocial correlates of patient–physician discordance in inflammatory bowel disease. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2002;97: 2174–83.
- von Wietersheim J, Jantschek G, Sommer W, Zawarehi H. Education of patients with inflammatory bowel diseases. *Wien Med Wochenschr* 1999;149:352–4.
- 189. Moser G, Tillinger W, Sachs G, Genser D, Maier-Dobersberger T, Spiess K, et al. Disease-related worries and concerns: a study on out-patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 1995;7:853–8.
- 190. Cima RR, Anderson KJ, Larson DW, Dozois EJ, Hassan I, Sandborn WJ, et al. Internet use by patients in an inflammatory bowel disease specialty clinic. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2007;13: 1266–70.
- 191. Angelucci E, Orlando A, Ardizzone S, Guidi L, Sorrentino D, Fries W, et al. Internet use among inflammatory bowel disease patients: an Italian multicenter survey. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2009;21:1036–41.
- 192. Elkjaer M, Burisch J, Avnstrøm S, Lynge E, Munkholm P. Development of a Web-based concept for patients with ulcerative colitis and 5-aminosalicylic acid treatment. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2010;**22**:695–704.
- 193. de Boer AG, Sprangers MA, Bartelsman JF, de Haes HC. Predictors of health care utilization in patients with inflammatory bowel disease: a longitudinal study. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 1998;10:783–9.
- Lakatos PL. Prevalence, predictors, and clinical consequences of medical adherence in IBD: how to improve it? World J Gastroenterol 2009;15:4234–9.
- 195. Kennedy AP, Nelson E, Reeves D, Richardson G, Roberts C, Robinson A, et al. A randomised controlled trial to assess the effectiveness and cost of a patient orientated self management approach to chronic inflammatory bowel disease. *Gut* 2004;53:1639–45.
- 196. Robinson A, Thompson DG, Wilkin D, Roberts C. Guided self-management and patient-directed follow-up of ulcerative colitis: a randomised trial. *Lancet* 2001;**358**:976–81.
- 197. Borgaonkar MR, Townson G, Donnelly M, Irvine EJ. Providing disease-related information worsens health-related quality of life in inflammatory bowel disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2002;8: 264–9.
- 198. Lange A, Haslbeck E, Andus T, et al. Patient education in inflammatory bowel disease. Z Gastroenterol 1996;34:411-5.
- 199. Larsson K, Sundberg Hjelm M, Karlbom U, Nordin K, Anderberg UM, Loof L. A group-based patient education programme for high-anxiety patients with Crohn disease or ulcerative colitis. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 2003;**38**:763–9.
- Bregenzer N, Lange A, Furst A, Gross V, Scholmerich J, Andus T. Patient education in inflammatory bowel disease does not influence patients knowledge and long-term psychosocial well-being. Z Gastroenterol 2005;43:367–71.
- Oxelmark L, Magnusson A, Löfberg R, Hillerås P. Group-based intervention program in inflammatory bowel disease patients: effects on quality of life. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2007;13:182–90.
- 202. Jaghult S, Larson J, Wredling R, Kapraali M. A multiprofessional education programme for patients with inflammatory bowel

disease: a randomized controlled trial. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 2007;**42**:1452–9.

- 203. Miehsler W, Weichselberger M, Offerlbauer-Ernst A, Dejaco C, Reinisch W, Vogelsang H, et al. Assessing the demand for psychological care in chronic diseases: development and validation of a questionnaire based on the example of inflammatory bowel disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2004;**10**:637–45.
- Miehsler W, Dejaco C, Moser G. Factor analysis of ADAPT questionnaire for assessment of subjective need for psychological interventions. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2008;14:142–3.
- 205. Guthrie E, Jackson J, Shaffer J, Thompson D, Tomenson B, Creed F. Psychological disorder and severity of inflammatory bowel disease predict health-related quality of life in ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2002;**97**: 1994–9.
- Irvine EJ. Quality of life-measurement in inflammatory bowel disease. Scand J Gastroenterol Suppl 1993;199:36–9.
- 207. Drossman DA, Leserman J, Li ZM, Mitchell CM, Zagami EA, Patrick DL. The rating form of IBD patient concerns: a new measure of health status. *Psychosom Med* 1991;53:701–12.
- Sewitch MJ, Abrahamowicz M, Bitton A, Daly D, Wild GE, Cohen A, et al. Psychological distress, social support, and disease activity in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Am J Gastroenterol 2001;96:1470–9.
- 209. Wahed M, Corser M, Goodhand JR, Rampton DS. Does psychological counseling alter the natural history of inflammatory bowel disease? *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2010;**16**:664–9.
- Casellas F, Fontanet G, Borruel N, Malagelada JR. The opinion of patients with inflammatory bowel disease on healthcare received. *Rev Esp Enferm Dig* 2004;96:174–84.
- 211. Patterson M. An evaluation of the effectiveness of psychotherapy in the treatment of ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology* 1964;71:286.
- 212. Mussell M, Böcker U, Nagel N, Olbrich R, Singer MV. Reducing psychological distress in patients with inflammatory bowel disease by cognitive-behavioural treatment: exploratory study of effectiveness. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 2003;**38**:755–62.
- Schwarz SP, Blanchard EB. Evaluation of a psychological treatment for inflammatory bowel disease. *Behav Res Ther* 1991;29:167–77.
- 214. Milne B, Joachim G, Niedhardt J. A stress management program for inflammatory bowel disease. J Adv Nurs 1986;11:561–7.
- Elsenbruch S, Langhorst J, Popkirowa K, Müller T, Luedtke R, Franken U, et al. Effects of mind-body therapy on quality of life and neuroendocrine and cellular immune functions in patients with ulcerative colitis. *Psychother Psychosom* 2005;74: 277–87.
- 216. Langhorst J, Mueller T, Luedtke R, Franken U, Paul A, Michalsen A, et al. Effects of a comprehensive lifestyle modification program on quality-of-life in patients with ulcerative colitis: a twelve-month follow-up. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 2007;42:734–45.
- Shaw L, Ehrlich A. Relaxation training as a treatment for chronic pain caused by ulcerative colitis. *Pain* 1987;29:287–93.
- Timmer A, Preiss JC, Motschall E, Rücker G, Jantschek G, Moser G. Psychological interventions for treatment of inflammatory bowel disease. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2011 CD006913-CD006913.
- 219. Mikocka-Walus AA, Turnbull DA, Moulding NT, Wilson IG, Andrews JM, Holtmann GJ. Antidepressants and inflammatory bowel disease: a systematic review. *Clin Pract Epidemiol Ment Health* 2006;**2**:24.
- Danese S, Semeraro S, Papa A, Roberto I, Scaldaferri F, Fedeli G, et al. Extraintestinal manifestations in inflammatory bowel disease. World J Gastroenterol 2005;11:7227–36.
- 221. Barreiro-de Acosta M, Dominguez-Munoz JE, Nunez-Pardo de Vera MC, Lozano-Leon A, Lorenzo A, Pena S. Relationship between clinical features of Crohn's disease and the risk of

developing extraintestinal manifestations. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2007; **19**:73–8.

- 222. Orchard TR, Wordsworth BP, Jewell DP. Peripheral arthropathies in inflammatory bowel disease: their articular distribution and natural history. *Gut* 1998;42:387–91.
- 223. Fornaciari G, Salvarani C, Beltrami M, Macchioni P, Stockbrugger RW, Russel MG. Muscoloskeletal manifestations in inflammatory bowel disease. *Can J Gastroenterol* 2001;15: 399–403.
- 224. de Vlam K, Mielants H, Cuvelier C, De Keyser F, Veys EM, De Vos M. Spondyloarthropathy is underestimated in inflammatory bowel disease: prevalence and HLA association. *J Rheumatol* 2000;**27**:2860–5.
- 225. Peeters H, Vander Cruyssen B, Mielants H, de Vlam K, Vermeire S, Louis E, et al. Clinical and genetic factors associated with sacroiliitis in Crohn's disease. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2008;23: 132–7.
- 226. Queiro R, Maiz O, Intxausti J, de Dios JR, Belzunegui J, Gonzalez C, et al. Subclinical sacroiliitis in inflammatory bowel disease: a clinical and follow-up study. *Clin Rheumatol* 2000;**19**:445–9.
- 227. van der Linden S, Valkenburg HA, Cats A. Evaluation of diagnostic criteria for ankylosing spondylitis. A proposal for modification of the New York criteria. *Arthritis Rheum* 1984;27: 361–8.
- 228. Braun J, Baraliakos X, Golder W, Hermann KG, Listing J, Brandt J, et al. Analysing chronic spinal changes in ankylosing spondylitis: a systematic comparison of conventional x rays with magnetic resonance imaging using established and new scoring systems. *Ann Rheum Dis* 2004;63:1046–55.
- 229. Puhakka KB, Jurik AG, Schiottz-Christensen B, Hansen GV, Egund N, Christiansen JV, et al. MRI abnormalities of sacroiliac joints in early spondylarthropathy: a 1-year follow-up study. *Scand J Rheumatol* 2004;**33**:332–8.
- 230. Steer S, Jones H, Hibbert J, Kondeatis E, Vaughan R, Sanderson J, et al. Low back pain, sacroiliitis, and the relationship with HLA-B27 in Crohn's disease. *J Rheumatol* 2003;**30**:518–22.
- Ferraz MB, Tugwell P, Goldsmith CH, Atra E. Meta-analysis of sulfasalazine in ankylosing spondylitis. J Rheumatol 1990;17: 1482–6.
- 232. Palm O, Moum B, Ongre A, Gran JT. Prevalence of ankylosing spondylitis and other spondyloarthropathies among patients with inflammatory bowel disease: a population study (the IBSEN study). *J Rheumatol* 2002;**29**:511–5.
- 233. Herfarth H, Obermeier F, Andus T, Rogler G, Nikolaus S, Kuehbacher T, et al. Improvement of arthritis and arthralgia after treatment with infliximab (Remicade) in a German prospective, open-label, multicenter trial in refractory Crohn's disease. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2002;**97**:2688–90.
- 234. Van den Bosch F, Kruithof E, De Vos M, De Keyser F, Mielants H. Crohn's disease associated with spondyloarthropathy: effect of TNF-alpha blockade with infliximab on articular symptoms. *Lancet* 2000;**356**:1821–2.
- 235. Generini S, Giacomelli R, Fedi R, Fulminis A, Pignone A, Frieri G, et al. Infliximab in spondyloarthropathy associated with Crohn's disease: an open study on the efficacy of inducing and maintaining remission of musculoskeletal and gut manifestations. *Ann Rheum Dis* 2004;**63**:1664–9.
- 236. Marzo-Ortega H, McGonagle D, O'Connor P, Emery P. Efficacy of etanercept for treatment of Crohn's related spondyloarthritis but not colitis. *Ann Rheum Dis* 2003;**62**:74–6.
- 237. Cipolla G, Crema F, Sacco S, Moro E, de Ponti F, Frigo G. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and inflammatory bowel disease: current perspectives. *Pharmacol Res* 2002;46:1–6.
- 238. Felder JB, Korelitz BI, Rajapakse R, Schwarz S, Horatagis AP, Gleim G. Effects of nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs on inflammatory bowel disease: a case–control study. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2000;**95**:1949–54.

- 239. Bonner GF, Fakhri A, Vennamaneni SR. A long-term cohort study of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug use and disease activity in outpatients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2004;**10**:751–7.
- 240. El Miedany Y, Youssef S, Ahmed I, El Gaafary M. The gastrointestinal safety and effect on disease activity of etoricoxib, a selective cox-2 inhibitor in inflammatory bowel diseases. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2006;**101**:311–7.
- 241. Sandborn WJ, Stenson WF, Brynskov J, Lorenz RG, Steidle GM, Robbins JL, et al. Safety of celecoxib in patients with ulcerative colitis in remission: a randomized, placebo-controlled, pilot study. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2006;4:203–11.
- 242. Clegg DO, Reda DJ, Weisman MH, Blackburn WD, Cush JJ, Cannon GW, et al. Comparison of sulfasalazine and placebo in the treatment of ankylosing spondylitis. A Department of Veterans Affairs Cooperative Study. *Arthritis Rheum* 1996;**39**: 2004–12.
- 243. Dougados M, vam der Linden S, Leirisalo-Repo M, Huitfeldt B, Juhlin R, Veys E, et al. Sulfasalazine in the treatment of spondylarthropathy. A randomized, multicenter, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. *Arthritis Rheum* 1995;**38**:618–27.
- 244. Van Den Bosch F, Kruithof E, Baeten D, Herssens A, de Keyser F, Mielants H, et al. Randomized double-blind comparison of chimeric monoclonal antibody to tumor necrosis factor alpha (infliximab) versus placebo in active spondylarthropathy. *Arthritis Rheum* 2002;**46**:755–65.
- 245. Zochling J, van der Heijde D, Dougados M, Braun J. Current evidence for the management of ankylosing spondylitis: a systematic literature review for the ASAS/EULAR management recommendations in ankylosing spondylitis. *Ann Rheum Dis* 2006;**65**:423–32.
- 246. Braun J, Baraliakos X, Listing J, Fritz C, Alten R, Burmester G, et al. Persistent clinical efficacy and safety of anti-tumour necrosis factor alpha therapy with infliximab in patients with ankylosing spondylitis over 5 years: evidence for different types of response. *Ann Rheum Dis* 2008;**67**:340–5.
- 247. Braun J, Brandt J, Listing J, Zink A, Alten R, Golder W, et al. Treatment of active ankylosing spondylitis with infliximab: a randomised controlled multicentre trial. *Lancet* 2002;**359**: 1187–93.
- 248. Gorman JD, Sack KE, Davis Jr JC. Treatment of ankylosing spondylitis by inhibition of tumor necrosis factor alpha. *N Engl J Med* 2002;**346**:1349–56.
- 249. Lambert RG, Salonen D, Rahman P, Inman RD, Wong RL, Einstein SG, et al. Adalimumab significantly reduces both spinal and sacroiliac joint inflammation in patients with ankylosing spondylitis: a multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled study. *Arthritis Rheum* 2007;**56**:4005–14.
- 250. van der Heijde D, Dijkmans B, Geusens P, Sieper J, DeWoody K, Williamson P, et al. Efficacy and safety of infliximab in patients with ankylosing spondylitis: results of a randomized, placebocontrolled trial (ASSERT). *Arthritis Rheum* 2005;**52**:582–91.
- 251. van der Heijde D, Kivitz A, Schiff MH, Sieper J, Dijkmans BA, Braun J, et al. Efficacy and safety of adalimumab in patients with ankylosing spondylitis: results of a multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Arthritis Rheum* 2006;**54**:2136–46.
- 252. Reinshagen M. Osteoporosis in inflammatory bowel disease. *J Crohns Colitis* 2008;2:202–7.
- Wahner H. Technical aspects and clinical interpretation of bone mineral measurements. *Public Health Rep* 1989;104(Suppl): 27–30.
- 254. Klaus J, Armbrecht G, Steinkamp M, Bruckel J, Rieber A, Adler G, et al. High prevalence of osteoporotic vertebral fractures in patients with Crohn's disease. *Gut* 2002;51:654–8.
- 255. Siffledeen JS, Siminoski K, Jen H, Fedorak RN. Vertebral fractures and role of low bone mineral density in Crohn's disease. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2007;5:721–8.

- 256. Stockbrugger RW, Schoon EJ, Bollani S, Mills PR, Israeli E, Landgraf L, et al. Discordance between the degree of osteopenia and the prevalence of spontaneous vertebral fractures in Crohn's disease. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2002;16: 1519–27.
- 257. Black DM, Steinbuch M, Palermo L, Dargent-Molina P, Lindsay R, Hoseyni MS, et al. An assessment tool for predicting fracture risk in postmenopausal women. *Osteoporos Int* 2001;**12**: 519–28.
- 258. Goodhand JR, Kamperidis N, Nguyen H, Wahed M, Rampton DS. Application of the WHO fracture risk assessment tool (FRAX) to predict need for DEXA scanning and treatment in patients with inflammatory bowel disease at risk of osteoporosis. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2011;**33**:551–8.
- 259. Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Willett WC, Wong JB, Giovannucci E, Dietrich T, Dawson-Hughes B. Fracture prevention with vitamin D supplementation: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *JAMA* 2005;**293**:2257–64.
- 260. Reffitt DM, Meenan J, Sanderson JD, Jugdaohsingh R, Powell JJ, Thompson RP. Bone density improves with disease remission in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2003;15:1267–73.
- 261. Requena L, Sanchez Yus E. Erythema nodosum. Semin Cutan Med Surg 2007;26:114–25.
- Trost LB, McDonnell JK. Important cutaneous manifestations of inflammatory bowel disease. *Postgrad Med J* 2005;81:580–5.
- Freeman HJ. Erythema nodosum and pyoderma gangrenosum in 50 patients with Crohn's disease. Can J Gastroenterol 2005;19: 603–6.
- 264. Nguyen GC, Torres EA, Regueiro M, Bromfield G, Bitton A, Stempak J, et al. Inflammatory bowel disease characteristics among African Americans, Hispanics, and non-Hispanic Whites: characterization of a large North American cohort. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2006;**101**:1012–23.
- Emanuel PO, Phelps RG. Metastatic Crohn's disease: a histopathologic study of 12 cases. J Cutan Pathol 2008;35:457–61.
- 266. Orchard TR, Chua CN, Ahmad T, Cheng H, Welsh KI, Jewell DP. Uveitis and erythema nodosum in inflammatory bowel disease: clinical features and the role of HLA genes. *Gastroenterology* 2002;**123**:714–8.
- Clayton TH, Walker BP, Stables GI. Treatment of chronic erythema nodosum with infliximab. *Clin Exp Dermatol* 2006;31: 823–4.
- Ortego-Centeno N, Callejas-Rubio JL, Sanchez-Cano D, Caballero-Morales T. Refractory chronic erythema nodosum successfully treated with adalimumab. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2007;21:408–10.
- Callen JP, Jackson JM. Pyoderma gangrenosum: an update. *Rheum Dis Clin North Am* 2007;33:787–802 [vi].
- 270. Menachem Y, Gotsman I. Clinical manifestations of pyoderma gangrenosum associated with inflammatory bowel disease. *Isr Med Assoc J* 2004;6:88–90.
- 271. Weenig RH, Davis MD, Dahl PR, Su WP. Skin ulcers misdiagnosed as pyoderma gangrenosum. *N Engl J Med* 2002;**347**:1412–8.
- 272. Brooklyn T, Dunnill G, Probert C. Diagnosis and treatment of pyoderma gangrenosum. *BMJ* 2006;**333**:181–4.
- 273. Juillerat P, Mottet C, Pittet V, Froehlich F, Felley C, Gonvers JJ, et al. Extraintestinal manifestations of Crohn's disease. *Digestion* 2007;**76**:141–8.
- 274. Matis WL, Ellis CN, Griffiths CE, Lazarus GS. Treatment of pyoderma gangrenosum with cyclosporine. *Arch Dermatol* 1992;**128**:1060–4.
- 275. Baumgart DC, Wiedenmann B, Dignass AU. Rescue therapy with tacrolimus is effective in patients with severe and refractory inflammatory bowel disease. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2003;17:1273–81.
- 276. Regueiro M, Valentine J, Plevy S, Fleisher MR, Lichtenstein GR. Infliximab for treatment of pyoderma gangrenosum associated

with inflammatory bowel disease. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2003;**98**: 1821–6.

- 277. Brooklyn TN, Dunnill MG, Shetty A, Bowden JJ, Williams JD, Griffiths CE, et al. Infliximab for the treatment of pyoderma gangrenosum: a randomised, double blind, placebo controlled trial. *Gut* 2006;**55**:505–9.
- Poritz LS, Lebo MA, Bobb AD, Ardell CM, Koltun WA. Management of peristomal pyoderma gangrenosum. J Am Coll Surg 2008;206:311–5.
- Cohen PR. Sweet's syndrome—a comprehensive review of an acute febrile neutrophilic dermatosis. Orphanet J Rare Dis 2007;2:34.
- 280. Travis S, Innes N, Davies MG, Daneshmend T, Hughes S. Sweet's syndrome: an unusual cutaneous feature of Crohn's disease or ulcerative colitis. The South West Gastroenterology Group. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 1997;9:715–20.
- Ytting H, Vind I, Bang D, Munkholm P. Sweet's syndrome—an extraintestinal manifestation in inflammatory bowel disease. *Digestion* 2005;72:195–200.
- Fiorino G, Allez M, Malesci A, Danese S. Review article: anti TNF-alpha induced psoriasis in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2009;29:921–7.
- 283. Rahier JF, Buche S, Peyrin-Biroulet L, Bouhnik Y, Duclos B, Louis E, et al. Severe skin lesions cause patients with inflammatory bowel disease to discontinue anti-tumor necrosis factor therapy. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2010;8:1048–55.
- 284. Cleynen I, Vermeire S. Paradoxical inflammation induced by anti-TNF agents in patients with IBD. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2012.
- Collamer AN, Battafarano DF. Psoriatic skin lesions induced by tumor necrosis factor antagonist therapy: clinical features and possible immunopathogenesis. *Semin Arthritis Rheum* 2010;40: 233–40.
- 286. Collamer AN, Guerrero KT, Henning JS, Battafarano DF. Psoriatic skin lesions induced by tumor necrosis factor antagonist therapy: a literature review and potential mechanisms of action. Arthritis Rheum 2008;59:996–1001.
- Mintz R, Feller ER, Bahr RL, Shah SA. Ocular manifestations of inflammatory bowel disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2004;10: 135–9.
- Mendes FD, Levy C, Enders FB, Loftus Jr EV, Angulo P, Lindor KD. Abnormal hepatic biochemistries in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2007;**102**:344–50.
- 289. Vitellas KM, Enns RA, Keogan MT, Freed KS, Spritzer CE, Baillie J, et al. Comparison of MR cholangiopancreatographic techniques with contrast-enhanced cholangiography in the evaluation of sclerosing cholangitis. *AJR Am J Roentgenol* 2002;178: 327–34.
- 290. Talwalkar JA, Angulo P, Johnson CD, Petersen BT, Lindor KD. Cost-minimization analysis of MRC versus ERCP for the diagnosis of primary sclerosing cholangitis. *Hepatology* 2004;**40**:39–45.
- 291. Cullen SN, Chapman RW. The medical management of primary sclerosing cholangitis. *Semin Liver Dis* 2006;**26**:52–61.
- Lindor KD. Ursodiol for primary sclerosing cholangitis. Mayo Primary Sclerosing Cholangitis-Ursodeoxycholic Acid Study Group. N Engl J Med 1997;336:691–5.
- 293. Mitchell SA, Bansi DS, Hunt N, Von Bergmann K, Fleming KA, Chapman RW. A preliminary trial of high-dose ursodeoxycholic acid in primary sclerosing cholangitis. *Gastroenterology* 2001;**121**:900–7.
- 294. Lindor KD, Kowdley KV, Luketic VA, Harrison ME, McCashland T, Befeler AS, et al. High-dose ursodeoxycholic acid for the treatment of primary sclerosing cholangitis. *Hepatology* 2009;**50**:808–14.
- 295. Sjoqvist U, Tribukait B, Ost A, Einarsson C, Oxelmark L, Lofberg R. Ursodeoxycholic acid treatment in IBD-patients with colorectal dysplasia and/or DNA-aneuploidy: a prospective, double-blind, randomized controlled pilot study. *Anticancer Res* 2004;**24**:3121–7.

- 296. Van Thiel DH, Carroll P, Abu-Elmagd K, Rodriguez-Rilo H, Irish W, McMichael J, et al. Tacrolimus (FK 506), a treatment for primary sclerosing cholangitis: results of an open-label preliminary trial. *Am J Gastroenterol* 1995;**90**:455–9.
- 297. Graziadei IW, Wiesner RH, Batts KP, Marotta PJ, LaRusso NF, Porayko MK, et al. Recurrence of primary sclerosing cholangitis following liver transplantation. *Hepatology* 1999;**29**:1050–6.
- 298. Bernstein CN, Nabalamba A. Hospitalization-based major comorbidity of inflammatory bowel disease in Canada. *Can J Gastroenterol* 2007;21:507–11.
- 299. Miehsler W, Reinisch W, Valic E, Osterode W, Tillinger W, Feichtenschlager T, et al. Is inflammatory bowel disease an independent and disease specific risk factor for thromboembolism? *Gut* 2004;**53**:542–8.
- Nguyen GC, Sam J. Rising prevalence of venous thromboembolism and its impact on mortality among hospitalized inflammatory bowel disease patients. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2008;103: 2272–80.
- 301. Danese S, Papa A, Saibeni S, Repici A, Malesci A, Vecchi M. Inflammation and coagulation in inflammatory bowel disease: the clot thickens. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2007;**102**:174–86.
- 302. Bernstein CN, Blanchard JF, Houston DS, Wajda A. The incidence of deep venous thrombosis and pulmonary embolism among patients with inflammatory bowel disease: a population-based cohort study. *Thromb Haemost* 2001;**85**:430–4.
- 303. Kappelman MD, Horvath-Puho E, Sandler RS, Rubin DT, Ullman TA, Pedersen L, et al. Thromboembolic risk among Danish children and adults with inflammatory bowel diseases: a population-based nationwide study. *Gut* 2011;60:937–43.
- Novacek G, Weltermann A, Sobala A, Tilg H, Petritsch W, Reinisch W, et al. Inflammatory bowel disease is a risk factor for recurrent venous thromboembolism. *Gastroenterology* 2009;139:779–87.
- 305. Guidelines on diagnosis and management of acute pulmonary embolism. Task Force on Pulmonary Embolism, European Society of Cardiology. *Eur Heart J* 2000;**21**:1301–36.
- 306. Qaseem A, Snow V, Barry P, Hornbake ER, Rodnick JE, Tobolic T, et al. Current diagnosis of venous thromboembolism in primary care: a clinical practice guideline from the American Academy of Family Physicians and the American College of Physicians. Ann Intern Med 2007;146:454–8.
- 307. Prevention and treatment of venous thromboembolism. International Consensus Statement (guidelines according to scientific evidence). *Int Angiol* 2006;**25**:101–61.
- 308. Kearon C, Kahn SR, Agnelli G, Goldhaber S, Raskob GE, Comerota AJ. Antithrombotic therapy for venous thromboembolic disease: American College of Chest Physicians Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guidelines (8th Edition). Chest 2008;133:4545–5455.
- 309. Shen J, Ran ZH, Tong JL, Xiao SD. Meta-analysis: the utility and safety of heparin in the treatment of active ulcerative colitis. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2007;**26**:653–63.
- 310. Geerts WH, Bergqvist D, Pineo GF, Heit JA, Samama CM, Lassen MR, et al. Prevention of venous thromboembolism: American College of Chest Physicians Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guidelines (8th Edition). *Chest* 2008;133:3815–4535.
- 311. Dentali F, Douketis JD, Gianni M, Lim W, Crowther MA. Meta-analysis: anticoagulant prophylaxis to prevent symptomatic venous thromboembolism in hospitalized medical patients. Ann Intern Med 2007;146:278–88.
- 312. Alikhan R, Cohen AT, Combe S, Samama MM, Desjardins L, Eldor A, et al. Risk factors for venous thromboembolism in hospitalized patients with acute medical illness: analysis of the MEDENOX Study. *Arch Intern Med* 2004;**164**:963–8.
- 313. Samama MM, Cohen AT, Darmon JY, Desjardins L, Eldor A, Janbon C, et al. A comparison of enoxaparin with placebo for the prevention of venous thromboembolism in acutely ill medical patients. Prophylaxis in Medical Patients with Enoxaparin Study Group. N Engl J Med 1999;341:793–800.

- 314. Gasche C. Anemia in IBD: the overlooked villain. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2000;6:142–50 [discussion 151].
- 315. Voegtlin M, Vavricka SR, Schoepfer AM, Straumann A, Voegtlin J, Rogler G, Ballabeni P, Pittet V, Buser A, Fried M, Beglinger C. Prevalence of anaemia in inflammatory bowel disease in Switzerland: a cross-sectional study in patients from private practices and university hospitals. J Crohns Colitis;4:642–8.
- Gisbert JP, Gomollon F. Common misconceptions in the diagnosis and management of anemia in inflammatory bowel disease. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2008;103:1299–307.
- 317. Bennett-Guerrero E, Veldman TH, Doctor A, Telen MJ, Ortel TL, Reid TS, et al. Evolution of adverse changes in stored RBCs. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2007;**104**:17063–8.
- Wells CW, Lewis S, Barton JR, Corbett S. Effects of changes in hemoglobin level on quality of life and cognitive function in inflammatory bowel disease patients. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2006;12:123–30.
- Bruewer M, Utech M, Rijcken EJ, Anthoni C, Laukoetter MG, Kersting S, et al. Preoperative steroid administration: effect on morbidity among patients undergoing intestinal bowel resection for Crohns disease. World J Surg 2003;27:1306–10.
- 320. Kulnigg S, Gasche C. Systematic review: managing anaemia in Crohn's disease. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2006;**24**:1507–23.
- 321. Gasche C, Berstad A, Befrits R, Beglinger C, Dignass A, Erichsen K, et al. Guidelines on the diagnosis and management of iron deficiency and anemia in inflammatory bowel diseases. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2007;13:1545–53.
- Gomollon F, Gisbert JP. Anemia and inflammatory bowel diseases. World J Gastroenterol 2009;15:4659–65.
- 323. Stein J, Hartmann F, Dignass AU. Diagnosis and management of iron deficiency anemia in patients with IBD. Nat Rev, Gastroenterol Hepatol;7:599–610.
- Sullivan KM, Mei Z, Grummer-Strawn L, Parvanta I. Haemoglobin adjustments to define anaemia. *Trop Med Int Health* 2008;13: 1267–71.
- Weiss G, Goodnough LT. Anemia of chronic disease. N Engl J Med 2005;352:1011–23.
- 326. Bermejo F, Garcia-Lopez S. A guide to diagnosis of iron deficiency and iron deficiency anemia in digestive diseases. *World J Gastroenterol* 2009;15:4638–43.
- 327. Guagnozzi D, Severi C, Ialongo P, Viscido A, Patrizi F, Testino G, et al. Ferritin as a simple indicator of iron deficiency in anemic IBD patients. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2006;**12**:150–1.
- 328. Munoz M, Villar I, Garcia-Erce JA. An update on iron physiology. *World J Gastroenterol* 2009;15:4617–26.
- Thomas C, Thomas L. Biochemical markers and hematologic indices in the diagnosis of functional iron deficiency. *Clin Chem* 2002;48:1066–76.
- 330. Kulnigg S, Teischinger L, Dejaco C, Waldhor T, Gasche C. Rapid recurrence of IBD-associated anemia and iron deficiency after intravenous iron sucrose and erythropoietin treatment. Am J Gastroenterol 2009;104:1460–7.
- Goddard AF, McIntyre AS, Scott BB. Guidelines for the management of iron deficiency anaemia. British Society of Gastroenterology. *Gut* 2000;46(Suppl 3–4):IV1–5.
- Ganzoni AM. Intravenous iron-dextran: therapeutic and experimental possibilities. Schweiz Med Wochenschr 1970;100:301–3.
- 333. Kulnigg S, Stoinov S, Simanenkov V, Dudar LV, Karnafel W, Garcia LC, et al. A novel intravenous iron formulation for treatment of anemia in inflammatory bowel disease: the ferric carboxymaltose (FERINJECT) randomized controlled trial. Am J Gastroenterol 2008;103:1182–92.
- Auerbach M, Coyne D, Ballard H. Intravenous iron: from anathema to standard of care. Am J Hematol 2008;83:580–8.
- 335. Gisbert JP, Bermejo F, Pajares R, Perez-Calle JL, Rodriguez M, Algaba A, et al. Oral and intravenous iron treatment in inflammatory bowel disease: hematological response and quality of life improvement. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2009;**15**:1485–91.

- Aghdassi E, Carrier J, Cullen J, Tischler M, Allard JP. Effect of iron supplementation on oxidative stress and intestinal inflammation in rats with acute colitis. *Dig Dis Sci* 2001;46:1088–94.
- 337. Carrier J, Aghdassi E, Cullen J, Allard JP. Iron supplementation increases disease activity and vitamin E ameliorates the effect in rats with dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis. *J Nutr* 2002;**132**:3146–50.
- Carrier J, Aghdassi E, Platt I, Cullen J, Allard JP. Effect of oral iron supplementation on oxidative stress and colonic inflammation in rats with induced colitis. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2001;15:1989–99.
- 339. Erichsen K, Ulvik RJ, Nysaeter G, Johansen J, Ostborg J, Berstad A, et al. Oral ferrous fumarate or intravenous iron sucrose for patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Scand J Gastroenterol 2005;40:1058–65.
- Chertow GM, Mason PD, Vaage-Nilsen O, Ahlmen J. Update on adverse drug events associated with parenteral iron. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* 2006;21:378–82.
- Knight K, Wade S, Balducci L. Prevalence and outcomes of anemia in cancer: a systematic review of the literature. *Am J Med* 2004;116(Suppl 7A):115–26S.
- 342. Gasche C, Dejaco C, Waldhoer T, Tillinger W, Reinisch W, Fueger GF, et al. Intravenous iron and erythropoietin for anemia associated with Crohn disease. A randomized, controlled trial. Ann Intern Med 1997;126:782–7.
- 343. Lindgren S, Wikman O, Befrits R, Blom H, Eriksson A, Granno C, et al. Intravenous iron sucrose is superior to oral iron sulphate for correcting anaemia and restoring iron stores in IBD patients: a randomized, controlled, evaluator-blind, multicentre study. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 2009;44:838–45.
- 344. Schroder O, Mickisch O, Seidler U, de Weerth A, Dignass AU, Herfarth H, et al. Intravenous iron sucrose versus oral iron supplementation for the treatment of iron deficiency anemia in patients with inflammatory bowel disease–a randomized, controlled, open-label, multicenter study. Am J Gastroenterol 2005;100:2503–9.
- Moreno Lopez R, Sicilia Aladren B, Gomollon Garcia F. Use of agents stimulating erythropoiesis in digestive diseases. World J Gastroenterol 2009; 15:4675–85.
- 346. Koutroubakis IE, Karmiris K, Makreas S, Xidakis C, Niniraki M, Kouroumalis EA. Effectiveness of darbepoetin-alfa in combination with intravenous iron sucrose in patients with inflammatory bowel disease and refractory anaemia: a pilot study. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2006;**18**:421–5.
- 347. Phrommintikul A, Haas SJ, Elsik M, Krum H. Mortality and target haemoglobin concentrations in anaemic patients with chronic kidney disease treated with erythropoietin: a meta-analysis. *Lancet* 2007;**369**:381–8.
- 348. Singh AK. Resolved: targeting a higher hemoglobin is associated with greater risk in patients with CKD anemia: pro. J Am Soc Nephrol 2009;20:1436–41.
- 349. Alter HJ, Klein HG. The hazards of blood transfusion in historical perspective. *Blood* 2008;112:2617–26.
- 350. Khorana AA, Francis CW, Blumberg N, Culakova E, Refaai MA, Lyman GH. Blood transfusions, thrombosis, and mortality in hospitalized patients with cancer. *Arch Intern Med* 2008;**168**: 2377–81.
- 351. Jensen LS, Puho E, Pedersen L, Mortensen FV, Sorensen HT. Long-term survival after colorectal surgery associated with buffy-coat-poor and leucocyte-depleted blood transfusion: a follow-up study. *Lancet* 2005;**365**:681–2.
- Garcia-Erce JA, Gomollon F, Munoz M. Blood transfusion for the treatment of acute anaemia in inflammatory bowel disease and other digestive diseases. World J Gastroenterol 2009;15: 4686–94.